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SaleS trend in eUr million: ShoeS | apparel

at a glance
2013 2012

Revenue
175,426 168,313

eBIt
48,863 51,002

Groupe net Income 31,926 38,426

equity as of Dec 31 81,579 66,241

liquid Funds as of Dec 31 66,200 46,578

number of employees as of Dec 31 208 199

In keuR, unless otherwise specified.





* Restated to the number of shares as of 31 December 2013 for comparison purposes.

the figures for 2012 concern the Consolidated Statements of VanCamel Int'l Group (HK) Co., limited, Hong Kong and are 
shown for comparison purposes.

keuR 2012 2013 Change

Revenues 168,313 175,426 4.2 %

eBItDA 51,113 48,944 -4.2 %

eBItDA margin 30.4% 27.9 % -

eBIt 51,002 48,863 -4.2 %

eBIt margin 30.3% 27.9 % -

eBt 51,160 49,049 -4.1 %

eBt margin 30.4 % 28.0 % -

net profit for the period 38,802 33,259 -14.3 %

net margin 23.1 % 19.0 % -

earnings per share (diluted / basic in euR) 2.60* 2.22 -14.6 %

net increase in cash and cash equivalents 28,845 20,675 -28.3 %

net cash generated from operating activities 49,022 44,725 -8.8 %

keuR 31 / 12 / 2012 31 / 12 / 2013 Change

total assets 91,694 105,794 15.4 %

equity 66,241 81,579 23.2 %

equity ratio 72.2 % 77.1 % -

number 31 / 12 / 2012 31 / 12 / 2013

employees 199 208

Shares 4,650,000 15,000,000

tHe  yeAR 2013 In FIGuReS
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Dear shareholders, 2013 was a special year in the history of VanCamel. 

our successful stock market listing in frankfurt in 

october brought us into the capital market spotlight 

and presented our brand to a broader international 

public for the first time. We expect this to raise 

awareness of the company and enhance its reputa-

tion with business partners, end-consumers and in-

vestors. We are therefore particularly pleased by the 

positive development not only of the VanCamel 

brand but also of the VanCamel share, which has 

almost doubled in value since the listing.

A rising share price was extremely important to us 

from the beginning to ensure that our first German 

shareholders gain a positive experience with our 

shares. In the medium term, the stock market listing 

should increase awareness of our brand and give us 

access to new markets. that has already been 

achieved to some extent: by drawing attention to our 

successful stock exchange listing in our stores, we 

have raised the profile of the VanCamel brand 

among affluent young members of the Chinese mid-

dle class. With consumers increasingly looking to 

brands as a way of differentiating themselves, that is 

foReWoRD
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extremely important for our future business perfor-

mance. price and practicality were the prime consid-

erations for Chinese consumers for many years but 

that is now changing. they are becoming increasing 

quality-conscious and place greater value on fash-

ion trends and brand awareness. Since VanCamel 

meets customers' desire for greater individuality and 

adopted a clear brand strategy to differentiate itself 

from its competitors at an early stage, we are able to 

benefit from this trend. 

that is reflected in our figures for 2013. Sales reve-

nue increased to euR 175.4 million, the pre-tax mar-

gin remained high at almost 28 percent and the op-

erating cash flow was nearly euR 35 million. the 

slight reduction in the earnings trend compared with 

the previous year is attributable to positive one-off 

effects in 2012 in connection with the transition to 

IfRS as we prepared to go public. In the medium 

term, we assume that the pre-tax margin will stabi-

lise at the past level of around 24 percent.

the Chinese fashion industry is facing mounting 

competition from South-east Asian states such as 

Vietnam and Indonesia where wage costs are low. In 

particular, manufacturers focusing principally on ex-

ports are suffering from the appreciation of the Chi-

nese renminbi, rising raw material and wage costs, 

the credit squeeze by banks and declining exports 

because they are not able to pass on rising costs to 

trading companies and the international market. By 

contrast, companies like VanCamel that produce for 

the domestic market are benefiting from the steadily 

rising living standards in China. Continued urbanisa-

tion and rising incomes are favourable for domestic 

consumption. that is reflected in rising demand from 

Chinese consumers for higher quality and more indi-

vidual apparel labels. In particular, there is a grow-

ing market for fashion and lifestyle products for our 

target group: affluent young men. this trend will lead 

to a further breakthrough for the men's fashion la-

bels in the future. 

However, to meet this rising demand, manufacturers 

need to raise inventories, which could dampen sec-

tor growth in the short term. At the same time, ration-

alising distribution channels and increasing produc-

tivity per business unit are gaining in importance.  
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to increase our market position in this environment 

and gain new customers, marketing is becoming 

more and more important. In 2013, VanCamel there-

fore increased its marketing spend from 2.3 % to 

2.5 % of revenue. the principal measures included 

tV ads geared to our target group and the opening 

of flagship stores at strategic locations. In all, our 

distributors opened 115 new authorised stores in 

2013. that increased the number of authorised retail 

outlets operated by our distributors to 2,316, spread 

across 26 provinces in China. Assuming that Chi-

na's domestic market continues to grow and that 

there is an ongoing rise in the number of authorised 

dealers, we expect sales volumes to increase stead-

ily in the coming years.

We want our shareholders to participate in our suc-

cess. therefore we propose to pay a dividend of 

euR 0.31 per share to the Annual General meeting 

for 2013. this is the basis for our long-term dividend 

policy.

We will continue to work with determination and 

commitment to generate positive results for the 

com pany and its shareholders. We are convinced 

that through its growth strategy VanCamel can con-

tinue to position itself successfully on the market 

and that we can achieve the targets we have set.  

I thank you most sincerely for supporting us on this 

road and for your confidence in our work.

Quanzhou, April 2014

Yours, 

Xiaming Ke,  

Chairman of the  

management Board
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CompAny pRofile
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„in particular, there is a growing market for fashion and lifestyle products for our  

target group: affluent young men. This trend will lead to a further breakthrough for 

the men's fashion labels in the future. Since VanCamel meets customers' desire for 

greater individuality and adopted a clear brand strategy to differentiate itself from 

its competitors at an early stage, we are able to benefit from this trend. This proves 

the potential of our growth strategy.“

Xiaming Ke, Ceo
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VanCamel is a fast growing Chinese men’s urban 

lifestyle fashion label engaged in the design, mar-

keting and distribution of own branded high-quality 

apparel and footwear. At the heart of the VanCamel 

brand image is the high fashion degree of its foot-

wear and fashion. The products of VanCamel target 

well-funded male consumers aged between 25 to 40 

years old, aspiring after upper middle class fashion 

styles. The collection features themes ranging from 

“business” to “private” and “recreational”, and is suc-

cessfully marketed in mono-labeled fashionable 

stores, also offering complementing accessories.

With almost 10 years of market presence, a distinc-

tive brand strategy and a reputation for high quality 

footwear, VanCamel has established a strong posi-

tion as a brand within the Chinese fashion market. 

VanCamel constantly develops new designs, trends 

and styles according to the brand philosophy. Creat-

ing very unique styles, VanCamel within the fast 

growing Chinese fashion market is considered to be 

a trend setter for the Chinese young males’ rapidly 

changing fashion demands.

The success of VanCamel is due to the focus on the 

urban middle class, the fastest growing Chinese 

consumer group with an enormous and growing pur-

chasing power. This consumer group expresses it-

self in its fashion, increasingly prefers domestic 

brands and designs and creates very fast moving 

trends, demanding a wide variety of models and 

styles. in particular, there is a growing market for 

fashion and lifestyle products for our target group: 

affluent young men. This trend will lead to a further 

breakthrough for the men's fashion labels in the fu-

ture.

Contrary to many competitors, VanCamel builds its 

design and marketing strategy to fit the needs of this 

challenging, but highly rewarding market segment, 

meeting customers' desire for greater individuality 

and having adopted a clear brand strategy to differ-

entiate itself from its competitors at an early stage.

The operating facilities are located in fujian prov-

ince/China, one of the largest and most important 

centres of the Chinese apparel industry, which in-

cludes many upstream and downstream industries. 

The design of its apparel is made in-house whereas 

the design of the footwear is outsourced based on 

the conceptual ideals of VanCamel. 

The production of the apparel and footwear is com-

pletely outsourced to local contract manufacturers. 

To guarantee a high product quality, VanCamel has 

implemented stringent quality control measures. 

VanCamel’s quality assurance team for example, 

inspects contract manufacturers’ production facili-

ties at least twice a year to ensure compliance with 

appropriate quality standards. 

VanCamel distributes its own brand products 

through regional distributors, who sell the products 

to authorized retail outlets. These authorized retail 

outlets, mainly located  in department stores in Chi-

nese tier 2 and tier 3 cities, sell exclusively either 

VanCamel’s apparels or footwear. As at 31 Decem-

ber 2013, VanCamel had 41 regional distributors 

who supplied VanCamel’s products to  2,316 author-

ized retail outlets in 26 provinces throughout China.

AT A GlAnCe
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 ■ VanCamel commences its business activities 

 ■ launch of the first collection of men’s apparel under the VanCamel brand

 ■ VanCamel opened its first concept store

 ■ product range extended to men’s footwear

 ■ VanCamel starts advertising on China CCTV

 ■ VanCamel is recognized “product of fujian famous Brand”

 ■ promotional campaign in cooperation with the nBA

 ■ VanCamel is recognized as “China’s most influential Brand in Sports & leisure” 

 ■ VanCamel is recognized as “China Top 10 most Competitive Apparels Brand”

 ■ VanCamel is recognized as “Asia’s Top 10 most Creative Brands”

 ■ Distribution network increases to 41 regional distributors 

 ■ The “1000st” authorized retail outlet of VanCamel is opened

 ■ VanCamel is recognized as “fujian province famous Trademark

 ■ VanCamel Group with VanCamel AG as its holding company is established 

 ■ listing on the prime Standard of the frankfurt Stock exchange on october 11

 ■ opening of 113 new authorized retail outlets 

 ■ The “2000st” authorized retail outlet of VanCamel is opened

 ■ VanCamel is awarded “China's Apparel industry most influential fashion Brand” 

 ■ fashion show together with mercedes Benz at the China fashion Week

2005

2007

2006

2009

2012

2011

2013

AChieVemenTS
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VanCamel’s products are divided into mainly two 

categories: Apparel and shoes. in addition,  VanCamel 

also distributes accessories such as suitcases, 

bags, wallets and belts.

At the heart of the VanCamel brand image is the 

high fashion degree of its footwear and fashion. 

Combining typical Chinese elements with Japanese 

innovations and western european trends,  VanCamel 

creates its very own, distinctive, but ever changing 

VanCamel style. The products of VanCamel are re-

markable for its quality which is guaranteed by a 

strict quality control management.

70%

30%

Percentage of sales in FY 2013

Apparel:

Shoes:

pRoDuCTS
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The men‘s apparel line consists of fashion for pro-

fessional, private and recreational occasions.

The VanCamel “professional” line is made for busi-

ness. items like suits, jackets, collared shirts, pants 

and business dress shoes are characterized by 

clear design and subtle fashion elements.

modern lifestyle wear with more obvious fashion ele-

ments is offered under the private” collection. Jack-

ets, leisure shirts, collared T-shirts, pants, jeans, 

and leisure fashion shoes are made for casual use.

The VanCamel “Recreational” line addresses the 

outdoor segment with items such as wind-breakers,  

t-shirts, jeans and shorts. Bright colours and more 

obvious fashion elements emphasize the sporty life-

style of the products.

The footwear line consists of mid-priced quality foot-

wear, designed for various occasions and express-

ing modern urban lifestyle. Alike the men‘s apparel 

line, the footwear line consists of shoes for profes-

sional, private and recreational occasions.

Apparel Shoes

Sales trend in EUR millions

122,8
118,2

92,2

201320122011

52,6
50,1

38,8

201320122011
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“The Chinese fashion market is still developing very fast and we expect the stock 

market listing to help us strengthen our market position in this country. The in-

crease in sales shows that our unique design meets the needs of the growing 

Chinese middle class.“

Xiaming Ke, Ceo
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Xiaming Ke

Chairman of the Management Board &  

Chief executive officer (Ceo)

Mr. Xiaming Ke is the Compa-

ny’s Chief executive officer 

and is in charge of the overall 

management, strategic devel-

opment and business strategy 

of VanCamel.

Mr. Xiaming Ke has more than twenty years experi-

ence in the PRC apparel and fashion industry, start-

ing by firstly managing a manufacturing company 

from 1987 to 1991 which was involved in the busi-

ness of garment manufacturing. 

After this initial step, he then started his own gar-

ment manufacturing company known as Fujian Shi-

shi Xinhua haixia Garment Factory in 1991. From 

1994 to 1998, he collaborated with a well-known 

menswear company that exposed him to the other 

facets of the apparel and fashion industry. After this 

collaboration ended in 1998, his company was com-

missioned as an authorized distributor for another 

menswear apparel company from 1998 to 2004, 

which involved the creation of an apparel line and 

management of sales and marketing throughout the 

PRC. In May 2003, Mr. Ke incorporated VanCamel 

PRC and in January 2005 launched the VanCamel 

brand.

Mr. Ke is honorary vice-chairman of the committee 

of the Shishi Association for Science and Technolo-

gy and vice-president of the Administrative Council 

of the Shishi City Chamber of Commerce. Acknowl-

edging his achievements and merits to the Chinese 

textile industry, Mr. Ke was awarded "PRC's Top 10 

Most Innovative Clothing Manufacturer" and "out-

standing PRC Brand establisher" by PRC's Con-

sumer Market Trends Survey Committee in 2007. 

eng Ann Soh

Chief Financial officer (CFo)

 

Mr. Soh is the Company’s Chief 

Financial officer and is respon-

sible for the finance department 

of VanCamel.

 

 

Mr. Soh is the Company’s Chief Financial officer 

and is responsible for the finance department of 

VanCamel. he graduated with a Bachelor of Ac-

countancy degree from the Nanyang Technological 

University in 1996 and is a member of the Institute of 

Certified Accountants of Singapore.

Mr Soh has more than 15 years of financial and audit 

experience, starting out as audit assistant for ernst 

& Young from 1996 to 1997. After that he joined 

osim International limited, a public-listed company 

in Singapore. Mr Soh subsequently joined eGl ea-

gle Global logistics (S) Pte ltd (now known as Ceva 

logistics Pte ltd), a Singapore group of companies, 

in 2001 where his last held position was director of 

finance. 

In 2007, Mr Soh joined YCh Group Pte ltd as a 

Group Financial Controller for a year before joining 

VanCamel as a Chief Financial officer in 2008 for 2 

years. he left VanCamel in 2010 and joined Sunny 

land Group Pte ltd, a Singapore and PRC based 

real estate developer group, as a Chief Financial of-

ficer from 2010 to 2012. In June 2012, he joined back 

VanCamel as a Chief Financial officer.

MANAGeMeNT BoARd
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Weibin Zhuang

Chief operational officer (Coo)

 

Mr. Zhuang is the Company’s 

Chief operational officer and is 

responsible for the business op-

erations of VanCamel.

Zhuang Weibin obtained his diploma in accountancy 

from Xiamen University, PRC, in 1999 and was ac-

credited as an economist by the Chinese National 

labour department in 2000. In 2004, he was certi-

fied as an accountant by the PRC National Finance 

department.

Mr. Zhuang has more than a decade of experience 

in finance, starting out as financial manager for Jias-

hun Foodstuffs limited, from September 1994 to 

december 1996. After that, he joined the China 

Construction Bank from december 1996 to May 

2003 as sub-branch manager. In May 2003, Mr. 

Zhuang joined Weles (China) Garments Manufac-

turing Co., ltd., a leading professional garment man-

ufacturer where he was in charge of financial ac-

counting and financial planning for the company. 

he then subsequently left the company in January 

2005 and joined VanCamel PRC, first assuming the 

role as financial officer and was subsequently ap-

pointed as a director of VanCamel PRC in 2008, in-

creasingly moving into the daily business manage-

ment.
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Jianhui Wang

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Mr. Wang graduated from Shanghai Institute of For-

eign Trade in July 1985. From July 1985 till March 

1989 he worked as a Senior Buyer in the Import de-

partment of the Fujian Foreign Trade Group holding, 

ltd. From April 1989 till August 2004 Mr. Wang was 

a Sales Manager of the Fujian Garment Import & ex-

port Corporation while he worked as a General Man-

ager of Fuzhou Shanhecheng Imp & exp Co., ltd. 

from September 2004 till April 2008. Mr. Wang was 

an assistant of the Ceo of Fuxing China Group, a 

company listed at the Singapore Stock exchange, 

from May 2008 till January 2009. Since then he is 

vice General Manager of Xiaxin Investment holding 

ltd. 

Mr. Wang also is a member of the Supervisory Board 

of Ultrasonic AG.

Ruliang Xie

deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Mr. Xie studied in the PRC at the University of hubei 

and the Fujian Normal University, the latter where he 

obtained a Phd in economics, as well studied in the 

U.S. at the Texas A&M University. From 1990 to 

2005 Mr. Xie held various positions at the Agricul-

ture Bank of China and the China everbright Bank. 

From 2005 to 2006 Mr. Xie was the vice-president 

and director of CAC Group, a domestic A-share list-

ed company and from 2006 to 2008 he was the 

president of Greater China of Capital Market divi-

sion of Singapore Zhongxin Investment Group. From 

2008 to 2010 and again since 2013, Mr. Xie was the 

General Manager of Xiamen Jinlanhai Investment 

Management Co., ltd. From 2007 to 2013, he was 

Senior Vice President of China Science and Mer-

chants Venture Capital Management Co., ltd and 

General Manager for Fujian Region.

Pingwen hu

Member of the Supervisory Board

Ms. hu graduated from Jiaxing University in 1990, 

where she studied accountancy, and in that same 

year started, working at Shanghai SMeC bearing 

Co. ltd. as an accountant – Financial Manager, until 

1992. From 1992 to 1995, Ms. hu started working at 

Shanghai XulunPan CPAs firm as a Certified Public 

Accountant. In 1995, Ms. hu started working at 

Shanghai PCZ CPAs firm as Certified Public Ac-

countant – manager until 1997. From 1997 until 2004 

Ms. hu became Partner at Roedl & Partner Shang-

hai office, where she worked as a Senior Consult-

ant. Since 2004 to date, Ms. hu works for ecovis-

Ruide CPAs Firm as a Senior Partner, having 

meanwhile concluded a degree in law from Fudan 

University and a degree in ITCM from Jiaotong Uni-

versity.

SUPeRVISoRY BoARd
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Dear Shareholders,

The financial year 2013 was marked by the compa-

ny’s initial public offering in october 2013 and the 

further growth of the business. With an increase in 

sales revenue of more than 4%, the Group remains 

on a dynamic growth course.

Working with the Management Board

The Management Board has promptly and regularly 

provided comprehensive reports to the Supervisory 

Board both orally and in writing on the economic and 

financial situation and the development of the com-

pany. In this context, the Supervisory Board and the 

Management Board have entered into discussion on 

basic questions which are of particular significance 

to the company, such as business policy, corporate 

policy and strategy, financial development and the 

profit situation, as well as questions pertaining to 

transactions.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board has also 

met regularly with the Management Board outside of 

formal meetings to discuss and agree on other sig-

nificant issues and questions.

The structure of the VanCamel corporate group with 

its German parent company listed on the stock ex-

change, an intermediate holding company in hong 

Kong and an operating subsidiary in China presents 

particular challenges to the Management and the 

Supervisory Board due to geographical separation, 

linguistic differences and different mentalities. Ac-

tive, open communication between the Manage-

ment Board and the Supervisory Board has contrib-

uted to mutual understanding and trust. The constant 

willingness of the Management Board to stay 

abreast of the significant challenges faced by a com-

pany focused on the capital markets emphasizes its 

desire to strengthen the confidence of shareholders 

in VanCamel AG though good corporate govern-

ance.

The Management Board provided the Supervisory 

Board with extensive and timely information on an 

ongoing basis, both orally and in writing. For all 

transactions and procedures which, in order to com-

ply with law, Articles of Association or Rules of Pro-

cedure, require the agreement of the Supervisory 

Board, a detailed description and justification was 

submitted by the Management Board to the Supervi-

sory Board and the necessary agreement obtained.

Thus, in accordance with the advisory and monitor-

ing functions imposed by law, the Articles of Asso-

ciation and the Rules of Procedure, the Supervisory 

Board continuously monitored the activities of the 

Management Board during the financial year 2013 

and advised the latter on the interest of the company 

and its shareholders. The standards utilized for this 

monitoring process were, in particular, the lawful-

ness, propriety, financial efficiency and expediency 

of the management of the company and the group.

Meetings of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board held 3 meetings during the 

2013 financial year, which were held via telephone 

conference. In addition to that and to the extent nec-

essary, the Supervisory Board adopted resolutions 

by written procedure. The members of the Supervi-

sory Board participated in the meetings of the Su-

pervisory Board either by appearing in person or via 

telephone conference.

As the Supervisory Board only consists of three 

people, not committees were formed. The Supervi-

sory Board deals with relevant issues in full session.

RePoRT oF The SUPeRVISoRY BoARd 
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Supervisory Board meetings and the 
resolutions adopted

13 June 2013: 

By way of a meeting held via telephone conference, 

Mr. WANG was appointed Chairman of the Supervi-

sory Board and Mr. XIe was appointed deputy 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board. Furthermore, 

details on the restructuring process regarding the 

IPo were discussed.

14 June 2014: 

By way of a written resolution, the Supervisory 

Board approved the contribution agreement in con-

nection with the capital increase against contribu-

tion in kind for VanCamel AG (contribution of shares 

in VanCamel hK).

3 July 2013: 

By way of a meeting held via telephone conference, 

Mr. ZhUANG Weibin and Mr. Soh eng Ann were 

appointed members of the Management Board. Mr. 

Ke was appointed Chairman of the Management 

Board. Furthermore, rules of procedure for both the 

Supervisory Board and the Management Board 

were resolved. Additionally, resolutions were adopt-

ed on the conclusion of service agreements be-

tween the members of the Management Board and 

VanCamel AG and the engagement of Warth & Klein 

Grant Thornton AG as auditor by the Chairman of 

the Supervisory Board, Mr. WANG was approved.

12 September 2013: 

Approval of the 2012 annual financial statements by 

way of a telephone conference as well as the approval 

of the Report of the Supervisory Board and the draft 

resolution proposals for the Annual General Meeting.

Composition of the Supervisory Board

By resolution adopted by the General Shareholders’ 

Meeting on 12 September 2013, WANG Jianhui, XIe 

Ruliang and hU Pingwen were appointed members 

of the Supervisory Board. The appointment shall be 

in effect until the end of the General Shareholders’ 

Meeting that decides on the discharge from liability 

for the financial year ending december 31, 2017.

Annual financial statements and con-
solidated financial statements for 2013

The auditing company Warth & Klein Grant Thorn-

ton AG, Frankfurt am Main, was elected by the Gen-

eral Shareholders’ Meeting of 12 September 2013 

as the independent auditor for the annual financial 

statements and the consolidated financial state-

ments for the financial year.

The present management report and the annual fi-

nancial statements of VanCamel AG as of 31 de-

cember 2013 prepared in accordance with the hGB 

(handelsgesetzbuch, German Commercial Code), 

the consolidated financial statements as of 31 de-

cember 2013 prepared in accordance with the IFRS/

IAS, and the combined consolidated management 

report, including the accounting records, have been 

audited by the independent auditor and an unquali-

fied audit opinion has been issued with respect to 

them. In accordance with the relevant legal provi-

sions, the group’s risk management system was a 

focal point of the audit as well the internal control 

system, the cash situation, the revenue and ac-

counts receivable existence as well as any potential 

related party transactions.

The Supervisory Board obtained information on the 

progress of the audit from the independent auditor 

on a regular basis and noted the latter’s audit re-

ports with approval. The annual financial state-

ments, the consolidated financial statements and 

the combined management report summary of Van-

Camel AG and VanCamel Group and the audit re-

ports of Warth & Klein Grant Thornton AG were 

made available to all members of the Supervisory 

Board and were thoroughly assessed at the ac-

counts review meeting of the Supervisory Board on 

24 April 2014 in the presence of the independent au-

ditor. The independent auditor submitted a report on 

the main findings of his audit. In particular he gave 

details on the company’s and the Group’s assets, 

financial condition and results of operations and was 

prepared to provide any additional information on 

request.

The Supervisory Board itself also carefully reviewed 

the annual financial statements, the consolidated fi-



21To the Shareholders

nancial statements and the combined management 

report summary of VanCamel Group and VanCamel 

AG for the financial year 2013, and determined that 

there were no objections to the final results of this 

audit. The audit reports submitted by the independ-

ent auditor were noted with approval by the Supervi-

sory Board. With the resolution of 25 April 2014, the 

annual financial report submitted by the Manage-

ment Board was approved. The Supervisory Board 

also approved the consolidated financial statement. 

The Supervisory Board approved the management 

report summary for VanCamel AG and the group, 

and in particular the assessment of the further de-

velopment of the company. After careful considera-

tion, the Supervisory Board adopted the proposal 

made by the Management Board concerning the ap-

propriation of net income as it became convinced 

that, with due regard to the legitimate interests of the 

shareholders, the provision for the company is pre-

served.

Corporate Governance

In addition, the Supervisory Board focused on cor-

porate governance issues and considered the rec-

ommendations and suggestions of the German Cor-

porate Governance Code. The Management Board 

and the Supervisory Board adopted a joint declara-

tion of conformity in accordance with Section 161 of 

the AktG. This declaration of compliance is available 

for inspection in the Corporate Governance Report 

and also on the company’s website. The recommen-

dations set forth in the German Corporate Govern-

ance Code have been implemented with the excep-

tion of the points listed in the declaration of 

conformity. The Supervisory Board is not aware of 

any conflicts of interest on the part of the Supervi-

sory Board.

For additional information, please refer to the Man-

agement Board’s and the Supervisory Board’s joint 

Corporate Governance Report.

Cologne, 25 April 2014

For the Supervisory Board:

WANG Jianhui

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Key share data 

ISIN de000A1RFMM9

WKN A1RFMM

Stock exchange symbol VC8

No. of shares 15,000,000 (31 december 2013)

Share capital eUR 15,000,000 (31 december 2013)

Stock exchange Frankfurt Stock exchange (XeTRA@, Frankfurt, Germany)

Segment Regulated market, Prime Standard

other exchanges Xetra, Tradegate, Frankfurt, Stuttgart, Berlin

Indices CdAX, Prime All Share, Classic All Share

designated sponsor BankM

Research coverage BankM

Share price performance

VanCamel shares 2013

high for the year (XeTRA® closing price) 3.74

low for the year (XeTRA® closing price) 2.70

Year-end price (XeTRA® trading) 3.38

Market capitalisation at year end in eUR million 50.7

Year-end closing prices 2013 2012 Change

VanCamel shares (XeTRA®) 3.38 n. a. n. a.

dAX 9,552.16 7,612.39 +25.5 %

Prime All Share 3,654.30 2,852.87 +28.1 %

Classic All Share 5,537.46 3,982.35 +39.1 %

Shareholder structure

Major shareholders with a shareholding of >3% as of 31 March 2013

Shareholder No. of shares Shareholding

Mr. Xiaming Ke 11,055,000 73.70%

Mr. Rongtang Cai 525,000 3.50%

Mr. Thorsten Wagner 500,000 3.33%

Free float (no shareholder holds  
more than 3 % of the share capital) 2,920,000 19.47%

Total 15,000,000 100.00%

VANCAMel SToCK
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diagrams: Shareholding as of 31 March 2014

Performance chart VanCamel Stock

Stock market listing, share price performance, investor relations

VanCamel AG celebrated the successful listing of its shares in the Prime Standard on the Frankfurt Stock 

exchange on 11 october 2013. In view of its high strategic significance for the company, the listing took the 

form of a "safe IPo" involving a private placement but no public offering. The free float was around 19.5 % when 

the share was admitted to trading. The initial quote for the share was eUR 2.10, putting the company’s market 

capitalisation at around eUR 31.5 billion. The company’s shares have been traded consistently in XeTRA®, 

deutsche Börse AG’s electronic trading system, since the listing. As designated sponsor, BankM assures the 
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liquidity of the share by ensuring that there are always bid/offer prices. Since it is listed in the Prime Standard 

on the Frankfurt Stock exchange, VanCamel AG meets the highest transparency requirements for listed com-

panies in Germany. In compliance with these requirements, all major information is published in english and 

German and made available on the company's website at www.vancamel.de, where investors can find a wide 

variety of information on the company, its business model and the share. All mandatory disclosures are acces-

sible on the Investor Relations pages.

Initially, VanCamel expects the stock exchange listing to raise awareness of the company and enhance its 

reputation with business partners, end-consumers and investors. In the medium term, it aims to raise the pro-

file of its brand and gain access to new markets. high operating cash flows and a comfortable liquidity position 

ensure that VanCamel is in a position to achieve its growth targets independently of its stock market listing. 

however, as the investment horizon brightens, VanCamel sees the capital market as an additional source of 

funding for strategic objectives such as extending its distribution network and enhancing brand value.

VanCamel’s shares posted a very positive performance between their admission to trading and the end of the 

reporting period. on the first trading day, the share price rose from eUR 2.10 to eUR 2.70 and continued to 

climb to eUR 3.74 on 21 october. It then stabilised in a range between eUR 3.00 and eUR 3.50, and closed 

the year at eUR 3.38 in XeTRA® trading. Shares in VanCamel therefore achieved a performance of 61.0  % 

based on the listing price. Average daily trading in the share in 2013 was around eUR 15 thousand. Xetra® was 

the most active trading platform, accounting for around 74 % of trading volume, followed by the stock exchange 

floor in Frankfurt (around 23 %). Regional stock exchanges accounted for the remainder.

The Management Board of VanCamel AG attaches great importance to open communication with present and 

prospective investors and a transparent information policy. The primary task of Investor Relations is therefore 

to provide extensive information for all market participants in order to strengthen trust in the company and its 

shares and achieve a further reduction in capital costs to the benefit of all stakeholders. In view of this, the 

Management Board gave a presentation to investors at the German equity Forum in Frankfurt am Main, Ger-

many, in mid-November 2013 and held a large number of one-on-one meetings with both present and potential 

investors. It also plans to attend this year’s German equity Forum in Frankfurt am Main in November. Visits to 

institutional investors are also planned. Further, VanCamel offers interested investors opportunities to visit its 

site and production facilities and talk to the management in China. In May 2014 it will be holding a reverse 

roadshow of this type, giving european investors an opportunity to gain a better insight into the company and 

local conditions through a tour of the site and company presentation. 

To ensure that investors share appropriately in the company’s successful performance, VanCamel has regu-

larly paid dividends in the past and intends to continue this policy in the future – depending on its operating 

performance, financial condition, financing requirements, the statutory, tax and regulatory environment and 

other factors. The management board of VanCamel AG, with the consent of its supervisory board, decided to 

present to the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) a proposal for a dividend payment of eUR 0.31 per share. This 

proposal is a result of a dividend payment of the operational units in China with an amount of RMB 48 million 

(eUR 5.6 million)  or an equivalent of roughly 17 % of the consolidated net profit of the group of eUR 33.3 mil-

lion for financial year 2013. The dividend is due for payment immediately after the AGM in August 2014.
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To comply with Paragraph 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance Code, the Management Board and the 

Supervisory Board are required to report on corporate governance in the company once a year in the annual 

report. The corporate governance report of VanCamel AG also includes the declaration on corporate manage-

ment required by Sec. 289a of the German Commercial Code (hGB). The declaration on corporate manage-

ment pursuant to Sec. 289a of the German Commercial Code comprises the declaration of conformity pursu-

ant to Sec. 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), relevant information on corporate governance 

practices as well as a description of the operating principles of the Management Board and the Supervisory 

Board.

The corporate governance report is also readily available on the internet at www.vancamel.de under Investor 

Relations / Corporate Governance.

Information pursuant to Sec. 289 para. 2 No. 1 hGB (declaration of Conformity 2014)

Pursuant to Sec. 161 AktG, the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of an exchange-listed stock 

corporation are required to annually declare to what extent the recommendations of the “Government Commis-

sion on the German Corporate Governance Code” published by the Federal Ministry of Justice in the official 

section of the electronic Federal Gazette have been complied and are being complied with or which of the 

Code’s recommendations have not been or are not being applied. The Management Board and the Supervi-

sory Board of VanCamel AG declared that the current recommendations of the “Government Commission on 

the German Corporate Governance Code” in its version dated 13 May 2013 have been complied with since the 

initial public offering and will be complied with in the future.

Deviations from the Code’s recommendations:

 ■ Paragraph 3.8 Sec. 3 of the Code recommends agreeing a specified deductible in any d&o (directors’ and 

officers’ liability insurance) policy to be taken out for Supervisory Board members. In the company’s opinion, the 

attitude of members of the Supervisory Board towards responsible acting and compliance with German law will 

not be supported by the agreement of such specified deductible. In addition to that, a deductible would reduce 

the attractiveness of Supervisory Board membership and, with regard to competition, thus reduce the compa-

ny’s chances of recruiting qualified candidates for the Supervisory Board. In this regard, the Code’s recommen-

dation has not been and is not to be followed.

 ■ Paragraph 4.1.5 of the Code recommends taking diversity into consideration when filling management posi-

tions and, in particular, to aim for an appropriate consideration of women. VanCamel AG respects the aspect of 

diversity. however, its focus is on the professional qualification of the candidates (men and women).

 ■ According to Paragraph 4.2.2, the full Supervisory Board determines the total compensation of the individu-

al Management Board members and shall resolve and regularly review the Management Board compensation 

system. Pursuant to Paragraph 4.2.3 of the Code, monetary compensation elements shall comprise fixed and 

variable components that are related to demanding and relevant comparison parameters. The Supervisory 

Board must make sure that variable compensation elements are in general based on a multi-year assessment. 

Both positive and negative developments should be taken into account when determining variable compensa-

tion components. All compensation elements must be appropriate, both individually and in total, and in particular 

must not encourage taking unreasonable risks. A retrospective modification of performance targets shall be 

ruled out. VanCamel AG deviates from this recommendation as the members of the Management Board are not 

CoRPoRATe GoVeRNANCe RePoRT
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entitled to remuneration for their service as members of the Management Board. The members of the Manage-

ment Board only receive remuneration for their services as directors and / or officers of the company’s subsidiar-

ies. Furthermore, they do not receive any variable monetary compensation. 

 ■ VanCamel AG deviates from the recommendations set forth in Paragraph 5.1.2 of the Code. decisions on 

suitable candidates for appointment as members of the Management Board are taken on a purely objective 

basis and focus on the professional qualification of the candidates in accordance with the German legislation on 

diversity. The Supervisory Board sees no reason for rigid age limits and will take all personnel decisions indi-

vidually and based on appropriate considerations.

 ■ due to the company’s size, the Supervisory Board of VanCamel AG only consists of three members and 

does not form any committees. Since it is a legal requirement that any decision-taking committee must also have 

at least three members, the establishment of committees is neither necessary nor expedient. Thus, the company 

deviates from the recommendations set forth in Paragraph 5.3 of the Code.

 ■ Pursuant to Paragraph 5.1.2 para. 2 of the Code, the Supervisory Board shall set specific objectives with 

regard to its composition that take into account the company-specific situation, the international scope of the 

company’s business, potential conflicts of interest, the number of independent members of the Supervisory 

Board pursuant to Paragraph 5.4.2 of the Code, a set age limit for members of the Supervisory Board as well as 

diversity. Those specific objectives shall in particular provide for an appropriate representation of women. Pursu-

ant to Paragraph 5.4.1 para. 3 of the Code, proposals issued by the members of the Supervisory Board to the 

responsible corporate electoral bodies shall take those objectives into account and the objective target shall be 

reported on in the Corporate Governance Report. In the interest of the company, the Supervisory Board will in 

each individual case solely base its nomination proposals to the Shareholders’ Meeting on the skills, abilities and 

professional expertise but not on gender or rigid age limits. Therefore, fixed targets to be attained at a fixed point 

in time are not provided for. In this regard, the company deviates from Paragraph 5.4.1 para. 2 and 3 of the Code.

 ■ Pursuant to Paragraph 5.4.5 of the Code, members of the Supervisory Board shall autonomously undertake 

training and educational measures required for their individual tasks and shall in this regard be appropriately 

supported by the company. due to the fact that the requirements of the term “angemessen” (appropriate) are not 

clear, the company declares its deviation from this recommendation for reasons of caution.

 ■ The consolidated financial statements will not be made publicly available within 90 days from the end of the 

financial year and the interim reports will probably not be made publicly available within 45 days from the end of 

the reporting period, thus being in deviation from Paragraph 7.1.2 of the Code. In view of the requirement to in-

clude foreign companies into the consolidated financial statements and the interim report, the company cannot 

guarantee being able to meet the deadlines recommended by the Code. The consolidated financial statements 

will, however, be made available within four months from the end of the financial year and the interim reports will 

be made available within the statutory deadlines.

The declaration of Conformity of VanCamel AG is available on the company’s website at www.vancamel.de 

under Investor Relations / Corporate Governance.
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how the Management Board and the Supervisory Board work

The dual management system of VanCamel AG, comprising a Management Board and a Supervisory Board, 

both of which have separate competencies, is a basic principle of the German Stock Corporation Act. Within 

the context of responsible corporate management, the Management Board and the Supervisory Board work 

together closely and trustfully in management and oversight tasks for the benefit of the company.

The way in which the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of VanCamel AG operate is based on the 

applicable laws, the articles of association of VanCamel AG, the decisions taken by the Annual General Meet-

ing of VanCamel AG, the rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board, the rules of procedure for the Manage-

ment Board and the many recommendations set out in the German Corporate Governance Code.

In conformance with the German Stock Corporation Act, the Supervisory Board appoints the members of the 

Management Board. The Supervisory Board advises and oversees the Management Board in the manage-

ment of the company and decides pursuant to sec. 7 of the articles of incorporation on the number of members 

of the Management Board (according to the articles of incorporation, the Management Board comprises one 

or more members). The Supervisory Board can appoint one member of the Management Board as chairper-

son of the Management Board. Sections 4 and 5 of the articles of association governing the level and allocation 

of the capital stock stipulate that, inter alia, the authorization to undertake and the execution of capital transac-

tions is dependent on the approval of the Supervisory Board. Restricted exclusion of subscription rights in 

certain circumstances also requires the approval of the Supervisory Board. The representation rules set out in 

Sec. 9 of the articles of association provide that, notwithstanding the joint representation arrangements, the 

Supervisory Board can authorize any member of the Management Board to represent the company alone and 

can waive the constraints imposed by sec. 181 of the German Civil Code (BGB). Mr. Ke Xiaming has been 

authorized to represent the company alone. Mr. Ke Xiaming has also been exempted from the restrictions set 

out in Sec. 181 sentence 1 2nd alt. of the German Civil Code (BGB). Sec. 112 AktG remains unaffected.

According to Sec. 11 para. 1 of the articles of association, the Supervisory Board consists of three members. 

All members of the Supervisory Board are elected by the Annual General Meeting. In accordance with Sec. 8 

of the articles of association, the Supervisory Board provided rules of procedure for the Management Board. 

Under the rules of procedure, the Management Board is required to work together constructively and trustfully 

with the company’s other governance bodies for the good of the company. The members of the Management 

Board are jointly responsible for the overall management of the company. The members of the Management 

Board work together in a cooperative way and constantly keep each other informed of important activities and 

events in their areas of responsibility. each member is required to seek a resolution of the entire Management 

Board on issues relating to other areas of responsibility regarding which he/she has serious reservations, 

where such reservation cannot be eliminated by discussion with the responsible Management Board member. 

The Management Board takes decisions on all matters requiring a resolution by law, the articles of incorpora-

tion or the rules of procedure. In addition, there are rules on representation, a description of the tasks of the 

Chairman of the Management Board, the mode of convening meetings of the Management Board, how meet-

ings are to be conducted, the permitted methods of adopting resolutions, the required majorities and the docu-

mentation of meetings and resolutions. The rules of procedure also contain a list of the business mattes requir-

ing the approval of the Supervisory Board.

The Management Board is responsible for managing the company, for its strategic focus, its budget planning 

and for determining and overseeing the company’s operating segments. It is also responsible for ensuring that 

the company has an appropriate risk management and control system. Systematic risk management as part of 
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a value-driven corporate management is to ensure timely identification, analysis and evaluation of risks and 

optimization of risk positions.

The Supervisory Board has adopted rules of procedure for its own work. These rules stress the duty of the 

Supervisory Board to work constructively with the other governance bodies in the performance of its duties, for 

the good of the company. They also contain details of electing the chairperson and the deputy chairperson, the 

method of convening meetings, how these meetings are to be conducted, the permitted methods of adopting 

resolutions and the documentation of meetings and resolutions. The Supervisory Boards decides whether the 

members of the Management Board should attend meetings of the Supervisory Boards. Regularly, the entire 

Management Board or one member of the Management Board attends meetings of the Supervisory Board. 

Furthermore, the rules stipulate that in case of appointment or dismissal of members of the Management 

Board, the Supervisory shall, together with the Management Board, take care of long-term succession plan-

ning.

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board maintain constant exchange of information and ideas. The 

Management Board and the Supervisory board are jointly responsible for ensuring that the Supervisory Board 

receives sufficient information. The Management Board provides the Supervisory board with full and timely 

information on the development of the company, its current state, current risks and the development of those 

risks. It provides written and oral reports on individual items on the agenda and on draft resolutions and an-

swers questions asked by the members of the Supervisory Board. The strategy worked out by the Manage-

ment Board is discussed and coordinated with the Supervisory Board. Progress in implementing strategic 

planning and possible deviations from the plans are reported to the Supervisory Board. Major decisions by the 

Management Board have to be approved by the Supervisory Board. The Management Board also informs the 

Supervisory Board of the management of risks and opportunities in the group.

The Supervisory Board oversees the work of the Management Board and is directly involved in decisions of 

fundamental importance to the company. on a regular basis, the Supervisory Board receives written reports 

on the Group’s financial position, assets and results of operations. A detailed explanation of any discrepancy 

between the planned and the actual business development is to be given to the Supervisory Board. Further, 

the Chairman of the Supervisory Board is informed directly and on a regular basis of the current situation, im-

portant business events and significant upcoming decisions.

The work of the Supervisory Board is outlined every year in the Report of the Supervisory Board, which is com-

mented on by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board at the Annual General Meeting.

The company’s three member Supervisory Board has not established any committees as this is not deemed 

necessary of expedient; all relevant issues are handled by the full Supervisory Board. This applies in particular 

to the examination of the quarterly and annual financial statements and personnel issues relating to the mem-

bers of the Management Board.

There is a d&o insurance policy for the members of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board. A 

deductible has been agreed with the members of the Management Board.
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Information on important corporate management practices

ensuring a sustained rise in the value of the company is the guiding principle for the members of the Manage-

ment Board and the Supervisory Board of VanCamel AG. Securing the confidence of investors and other 

stakeholders in effective and transparent management is a matter of prime significance. The aim of VanCamel 

AG’s investor relations activities is to achieve the level of transparency expected by the capital markets and to 

give shareholders a true and fair view on the company. In keeping with the principle of fair disclosure, all share-

holders and major target groups are treated equally in terms of the provision of information. The underlying rule 

is providing the company’s owners with timely and reliable information on major events at their company. 

Transparency also constitutes an opportunity to gain new investors from Germany and other countries. The 

Management Board and the Supervisory Board therefore constantly strive to optimise communication to en-

sure a sustained and appropriate valuation of the company’s stock.

The company’s website at www.vancamel.de additionally provides further information on the group, its busi-

ness model and its products.

Information on risk management

A responsible approach to corporate risk is part of good corporate governance. VanCamel AG is in the course 

of establishing a systematic risk management system which shall also operate as VanCamel AG’s early risk 

detection system. The Management Board regularly notifies the Supervisory Board of existing risks, their de-

velopment and the preventive actions taken.

Further details on risk management can be found in the opportunity and risk report included in VanCamel’s 

combined management report for 2013. The combined management report also contains the reports on the 

accounting-related internal control and risk management system required by the German Accounting law 

Modernization Act (BilMoG). Monitoring the observance of compliance directives is to be defined as an impor-

tant element of risk management in the VanCamel Group. That is to include providing continuous information 

for employees on fundamental legal principles and the corresponding requirements for internal and external 

communication. All relevant persons working for the company who have legitimate access to insider informa-

tion are entered in a register of insiders and are informed of their obligations under insider law.

Remuneration

For the 2013 fiscal year, the members of the Management Board of VanCamel AG did neither receive fixed nor 

variable remuneration from VanCamel AG for their work as Management Board members. All remuneration 

received by Management Board members were paid by affiliated companies for their work at these companies. 

Contrary to the recommendations in the German Corporate Governance Code, to simplify matters, no variable 

remuneration was paid. As of december 31, 2013, there were no warrants and no valid warrant program so that 

no member of the Supervisory Board or the Management Board currently holds warrants or conversion rights 

on shares of VanCamel AG.

Further details of the remuneration system for members of the governance bodies can be found in section [3.] 

of the management report (Remuneration systems).
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The Supervisory Board of VanCamel AG receives fixed remuneration that will be voted on by the Annual Gen-

eral Meeting that ratifies the actions of the Management Board and Supervisory Board for the 2013 fiscal year. 

The company’s articles of incorporation state that the Annual General Meeting may decide on the level of such 

remuneration. Moreover, no variable remuneration has currently been agreed for the Supervisory Board. how-

ever, articles of incorporation do not rule out this type of remuneration, so it could be decided on by the An-

nual General Meeting.

Securities held by members of the Management Board and Supervisory Board / 
directors’ dealings

As Chairman of the Management Board and founder of the company, Mr. Ke Xiaming holds around 73.3% of 

the company’s shares (11.055.000 shares). Mr. ZhUANG Weibin, member of the Management Board, holds 

2.5% of the company’s shares (375.000 shares). Mr. Soh eng Ann, member of the Management Board, holds 

0.8% of the company’s shares (120.000 shares) The members of the Supervisory Board do not hold any 

shares in the company. The company does not hold any treasury stock.

In accordance with Sec. 15a of the German Securities Trading Act (WphG), the members of the Management 

Board and the Supervisory Board have a legal obligation to disclose the purchase and sale of securities in 

VanCamel AG, insofar as the value of the transactions undertaken by the member and related parties reaches 

or exceeds eUR 5,000 in a calendar year. In the 2013 fiscal year, no transactions in shares in VanCamel AG 

subject to sec. 15a WphG were undertaken by members of the Management Board and Supervisory Board of 

VanCamel AG subject to these disclosure requirements.

All transactions are disclosed on the company’s website at www.vancamel.de Investor Relations/Corporate 

Governance/directors’ dealings as soon as they are undertaken. Shareholdings by members of governance 

bodies were as follows on december 31, 2013:

Ke Xiaming      11.055.000 shares

ZhUANG Weibin   375,000 shares

Soh eng Ann    120,000 shares

No member of the Supervisory Board or Management Board currently holds warrants or conversion rights to 

shares of VanCamel AG.

Cologne, 24 April 2014

The Supervisory Board                                      The Management Board

WANG Jianhui        Ke Xiaming 

XIe Ruliang        ZhUNANG Weibin 

hU Pingwen        Soh eng Ann
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The following comments refer to the consolidated 

business performance of the companies in the Van-

Camel Group for the period from 1 January to 31 

December 2013. The Group's holding company, 

VanCamel AG, was established on 24 September 

2012 and went public with a stock market listing on 

Frankfurt Stock Exchange on 11 October 2013.

As the holding company, VanCamel AG's earnings, 

asset and financial situation is dependent on the 

business of its PRC-based operating subsidiary. 

Comparison with the previous year’s performance 

should take into account that the Group’s structure 

was different in the first nine months of 2012. All fig-

ures for this period refer to the Van Camel lnt'l Group 

(HK) Co. Limited (VanCamel Hong Kong Group) and 

are presented for comparison. The business combi-

nation is outlined in more detail in the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements. The consolidated 

financial statements as of 31 December 2013 have 

been prepared in conformance with the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpre-

tations, as applicable for use in the European Union. 

The consolidated financial statements are based on 

COmbInED mAnAGEmEnT REPORT 
OF THE VAnCAmEL GROUP AnD 
VAnCAmEL AG 

for the financial year 2013

PRELImInARy REmARKS
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a number of assumptions that are outlined in detail 

in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 

(accounting policies and valuation methods). The 

combined management report of the VanCamel 

Group and VanCamel AG has been prepared in ac-

cordance with the statutory requirements and should 

be read in conjunction with the consolidated finan-

cial statements for the Group and the financial state-

ments for VanCamel AG. Figures presented in the 

Group's management report may be subject to 

rounding differences. Data in the tables are given in 

thousands of euros (EUR ’000), except where other-

wise indicated. The VanCamel Group has only one 

operating segment. Therefore no separate segment 

information is recorded.

In addition, the combined management report con-

tains forward-looking statements, i.e. statements 

based on specific assumptions and the current 

plans, estimates and forecasts derived from those 

assumptions. Forward-looking statements are only 

valid at the time at which they are made. The man-

agement board of VanCamel AG has no obligation 

to revise and/or publish a revision of the forward-

looking statements underlying this document in the 

event of new information. Forward-looking state-

ments are always exposed to risks and uncertain-

ties. The management board of VanCamel AG here-

by points out that a large number of factors could 

lead to substantial differences in attainment of these 

objectives. The principal factors are outlined in de-

tail in the section headed "Risk report".
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1.1 Group structure

VanCamel AG has its registered office in Cologne, Germany. Together with its direct and indirect subsidiaries 

it forms the VanCamel Group (subsequently referred to as "VanCamel" or "the Group"). The operational busi-

ness of VanCamel is exclusively carried out by VanCamel PRC which has the business address no. 409, 

Shiquan Road, Shishi City, Fujian Province, PRC. This is the location of all operating units for the group from 

administration through research and development to marketing and distribution. more than 200 people work at 

the site in Shishi City. Since manufacturing of all products is fully outsourced, the Group does not have any 

production facilities.

VanCamel AG is the sole owner of the following company

 ■ Van Camel Int’l Group (HK) Co., Limited, Hong Kong 

Van Camel Int’l Group (HK) Co., Limited ("Van Camel 

HK”) is a limited liability company established on 30 no-

vember 2001 under Hong Kong law. It owns 100% of the 

shares in:

 ■ VanCamel Cloth Co., Ltd, Quanzhou, PR China 

VanCamel Cloth Co., Ltd., Quanzhou (“VanCamel PRC”) 

is a limited liability company founded on 28 may 2003 as 

Jintuo Dress Co., Ltd. Quanzhou under PRC law.

1.1 business activities and major developments in 2013

VanCamel is a fast-growing Chinese men’s urban lifestyle fashion label engaged in the design, marketing and 

distribution of its own brand of apparel and footwear. The men’s apparel line, which consists of fashion for 

professional, private and recreational occasions, realized sales of EUR 122.8 million in 2013 (2012: EUR 118.2 

million), resulting in a gross profit of EUR 41.4 million. This corresponds to a gross profit margin of 33.7%. The 

footwear line consists of mid-priced quality footwear, including leather dress shoes designed for business at-

tire. In fiscal 2013, sales of shoes amounted to EUR 52.6 million (2012: EUR 50.1 million), resulting in a gross 

profit of EUR 17.5 million. This corresponds to a gross profit margin of 33.3%.

VanCamel’s apparel is designed in-house, whereas the design of the footwear is outsourced but is based on 

VanCamel’s conceptual ideas. The production of the apparel and footwear is completely outsourced to local 

contract manufacturers.

VanCamel’s products target high-earning male consumers aged between 25 to 40, primarily in tier 2 and tier 3 

cities in the PRC, who aspire to upper middle-class fashion styles.

VanCamel distributes its own-label products through regional distributors, who sell the products to authorized 

retail outlets. These authorized retail outlets are operated by regional distributors or by authorized retailers and 

are usually either located in busy shopping streets or in shopping malls and sell exclusively either VanCamel’s 

1. THE VAnCAmEL GROUP
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apparel or footwear. As of 31 December 2013 VanCamel had 41 regional distributors, who supplied VanCam-

el’s products to more than 2,200 authorized retail outlets in 26 provinces throughout the PRC.

VanCamel’s operating facilities are located in Shishi City, Fujian Province, PRC. The design and development 

division is one of VanCamel’s key divisions, and is headed by experienced designers. The sales and marketing 

division organizes and coordinates two semi-annual trade fairs for the autumn/winter and spring/summer col-

lections. These are the main avenues for regional distributors to place orders. Orders placed through these 

trade fairs constitute for the most of VanCamel’s annual turnover in each financial year.

major developments in 2013

Successful start on the Prime Standard of Frankfurt Stock Exchange

On 11 October 2013, VanCamel AG was traded for the first time on the Prime Standard at Frankfurt Stock 

Exchange. Due to the high strategic importance for the company, the stock market listing was executed as a 

'Safe IPO' as part of a private placement without a public offering. At the start of trading, the free float was 

around 19.5%. The initial listed price of the shares was EUR 2.10, corresponding to a market capitalization of 

EUR 31.5 million.

The listing is – in the first place – a strategic step to increase awareness of the company and its reputation 

among business partners, consumers and investors. In the mid-term, the company expects that the listing will 

enhance its brand image and open up new market opportunities. While high operating cash flows and a com-

fortable liquidity position ensure the company's long-term growth targets independently of market sentiment, 

VanCamel considers the capital market as an additional financing option for strategic goals like the expansion 

of the sales network and a further increase in brand value once market sentiment brightens up again.

Shares in VanCamel AG are traded with the International Securities Identification number (ISIn) DE000A1R-

Fmm9, the Securities Identification number (WKn) A1RFmm and the ticker symbol VC8 on the Prime Standard 

of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. 

Dividend policy

VanCamel PRC has in the past paid dividends. It also intends to pay dividends on a regular basis in the future, 

but this will depend on the results of its operations, its financial situation, its need for cash, the legal, tax and 

regulatory environment and other factors. VanCamel has already committed itself to proposing a dividend of at 

least 15% of consolidated net income from fiscal 2013 at the General meeting for fiscal year 2013 to be held in 

2014. This dividend is to be understood as the basis for the company’s long-term dividend policy. 

New rebate policy

before the transition to IFRS, VanCamel made shop fittings available to its distributors free of charge, capital-

ized the associated costs and depreciated the shop fittings over three years. because of problems with the 

evidence and the evaluation all shop fittings have been recognised retrospectively in profit and loss in the year 

of investment. Since 2012 the shop fittings are no longer provided by VanCamel. To continue to support dis-

tributors in the ongoing modernization of their stores, VanCamel has introduced sales rebates. The rebate will 

be 7.5% from 2014 with preceding stepwise increases. The rebate was 1.2% in 2012 and increased to 4.5% in 

2013. Sales revenue decreases by the same amount as the increase, but the impact on operating income is 

lower because depreciation is no longer recognized for shop fittings. This effect should be borne in mind when 

comparing revenues and earnings between different years. 
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1.2 Strategy and Vision

VanCamel pursues the following strategies:

Further strengthening the brand

In cooperation with the distributors VanCamel intends to establish VanCamel flagship stores in various cities 

in the PRC, especially in cities with high-profile and well-known shopping zones. Through these flagship stores, 

VanCamel expects to gain even higher brand visibility among its customers. VanCamel also plans to intensify 

its advertisements through printed media, billboard advertisements and the internet in order to promote brand 

awareness of VanCamel. For example, it intends to advertise its products in high-traffic websites other than its 

official website to increase awareness of its brand and attract the middle class in the 25 to 40 year-old age 

bracket, which is more fashion/lifestyle-oriented. Planned investments are outlined in more detail in the “out-

look” section.

Increasing store density

VanCamel’s primary goal was to establish a national brand with PRC-wide reach. As this has been success-

fully achieved, the company now aims to greatly increase the density of its stores. Currently, many cities only 

offer one or two VanCamel stores and there are many very active shopping streets and malls even in tier 3 

cities with still several million inhabitants. now that the VanCamel brand has been introduced nationally, Van-

Camel believes that increasing store density, often with existing distributors, should be a realistic goal for the 

company’s development in the coming years. Planned investments are outlined in more detail in the “outlook” 

section. 

Improving product design and development capabilities

VanCamel continues to invest in its international design and development team, including establishing a new 

facility to improve exchange and cooperation, and in increasing interaction with renowned international design-

ers. The company also intends to send its design and development team on field trips to mature Asian design 

markets such as Japan and Korea. Currently, VanCamel is exploring the possibility of entering into an official 

collaboration with fashion and design schools and universities in order to ensure constant access to new tal-

ents and new ideas in the fashion industry. Planned investments are outlined in more detail in the “outlook” 

section. 

1.2 Group control and central control parameters

The VanCamel Group has a clearly defined leadership and corporate structure. Key issues are decided by the 

management board of the holding and administration entity (VanCamel AG). The key decision makers operate 

out of the Group’s operational headquarters in Shishi City from where the Group’s operating business is con-

trolled. 

VanCamel uses various performance indicators to monitor the development of the Group in line with corporate 

strategy. As a growth-oriented company, it regards profitable revenue growth as particularly important. All ac-

tivities to raise revenue are measured against their potential to achieve a long-term increase in earnings before 

taxes (EbT) and the EbT margin.
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1.3 non-financial performance indicators

Quality assurance

The management board is of the opinion that efficient quality management is a key factor for VanCamel’s 

growth and success. Consequently, VanCamel places great importance on quality management and is con-

cerned to maintain its reputation as a manufacturer of high-quality products. VanCamel has implemented 

stringent quality control measures at different stages in the production process. These seek to ensure that the 

quality of VanCamel’s products meet the expectations of its customers as well as legal requirements. For ex-

ample, raw materials used to produce product samples have to be approved by the government. The samples 

are therefore first submitted to VanCamel for checking. They are inspected by VanCamel's quality assurance 

team. A second quality control step is performed after mass production but before shipment to regional dis-

tributors. At this stage, random samples are examined before final quality control at government level. 

To ensure the production of quality products, VanCamel sends production specifications to its contract manu-

facturers. At the same time, the company assigns in-house staff to inspect the goods delivered by manufactur-

ers, based on criteria outlined in VanCamel’s quality control handbook. Goods are returned to the original 

manufacturer if any defects are found after delivery to VanCamel’s warehouses. In addition, VanCamel’s qual-

ity assurance team inspects contract manufacturers’ production facilities at least twice a year to ensure compli-

ance with appropriate quality standards.

As of 31 December 2013, there were 17 employees (2012: 17 employees) in the quality control team. They are 

responsible for product quality. 

Talent management

To continue to set fashion trends and create and successfully market new products, styles and designs that 

match its brand philosophy, VanCamel needs well-trained employees who are able to take the brand philoso-

phy on board and drive it forward. 

Therefore, the company does not use employees from staffing agencies and places great value on ongoing 

training of its employees. most training is performed in-house. All new employees are put through a special 

onboarding programme to give them the necessary skills, product knowledge and workflows. In addition, regu-

lar on-the-job training is conducted to deepen practical skills. moreover, the HR department organizes work-

shops and other training measures as required, for example, to help staff learn specific selling and communica-

tion techniques. Outstanding employees are given an opportunity to visit regional retail partners for further 

training. In addition to in-house training, the company encourages employees to attend external seminars and 

workshops. VanCamel’s in-house designers regularly visit the main sector trade fairs and fashion shows to 

ensure that they are aware of the latest market and fashion trends and of new products. 
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As a result of the training and development measures outlined above, VanCamel is regularly able to attract 

qualified new employees. In the reporting period the headcount therefore increased from 199 as of 31 Decem-

ber 2012 to 208 as of 31 December 2013. The employee split between the areas of the company is as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

General manager’s Office 15 11

Administration 27 27

marketing 16 16

Finance 18 17

Sales 26 27

Strategy 12 8

Production 30 29

Development 46 46

Logistics 18 18

Total 208 199

Innovation

VanCamel is convinced that a constant stream of innovative designs is one of the keys to its success. As of 31 

December 2013, the in-house design team in the Development division comprised 46 employees. That was 

more than 20% of the total workforce and highlights the special importance of R&D for the company. Each of 

the 15 designers in the core team has knowledge and experience gained in at least eight years of working in 

the sector. The department is headed by Chief Designer Rongtang Cai, who has a track record of more than 

20 years successful work in the fashion industry. 

To ensure that its R&D is always aligned to the latest international sector trends, VanCamel’s staff regularly 

attends the most important fashion shows in milan, Tokyo and Seoul. VanCamel’s constantly changing indi-

vidual yet coherent style is therefore characterized by a synthesis of typical Chinese elements with Japanese 

innovations and Western European trends. VanCamel also sends its designers to enrichment courses and 

studies to upgrade their fashion skills. VanCamel also uses a variety of sector services and websites and feeds 

the available information into an in-house design database that is constantly being extended and updated. The 

design team also intensively analyses sales data on its products to gain an insight into trends and preferences 

for use in the development of new collections. 

In addition to its in-house design team, VanCamel uses experienced specialists from leading worldwide design 

centres who provide advice on product development. In all, the company is well-positioned to ensure timely 

identification of market developments and successfully anticipate changes in customers’ requirements. The 

company has received a variety of design awards in the past and is a trend-setter for the rapidly changing 

fashion-consciousness of China’s younger generation.
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2.1 General economic development

The VanCamel brand targets the men’s leisurewear market in the PRC. This is a sub-segment of the overall 

Chinese apparel market, which comprises ladies’ wear, menswear, footwear and accessories. VanCamel is 

convinced that the driving forces behind the development of the Chinese apparel market as a whole are the 

country’s economic growth, rising disposable incomes in China, progressive urbanisation and changing con-

sumer spending patterns resulting from the rising number of affluent urban consumers in the PRC. This trend 

is supported by the 12th Five-year Plan adopted by the Chinese government in march 2011 which prioritises 

the promotion of domestic consumption, extending the service sector, shifting manufacturing towards higher 

quality products and improving energy efficiency and environmental protection in order to drive forward the 

restructuring of the Chinese economy.

The moderate economic growth in China continued in 2013. Fears that of a hard landing for the Chinese 

economy as declining global demand made its mark in the first half of the year 2013 were subsequently dis-

pelled. Instead, there was a clear rebound in the second half of the year 2013: while GDP only grew by around 

6% at the start of the year, according to the national bureau of Statistics it increased to around 9% in the 

second half.1 In its latest update published in January, the International monetary Fund (ImF) therefore esti-

mated a growth in Fy 2013 of 7.7%.2 That would be exactly the same as in the previous year. 

Although industrial output also increased, the rise seen in the second half of the year was principally due to the 

higher pace of investment driven partly by a state investment programme adopted in the summer. However, 

since this is only a temporary effect, the experts at the ImF expect growth rates to slip back slightly in the fol-

lowing years to 7.5% in 2014 and 7.3% in 2015.2 Leading economic indicators are also pointing to slightly 

slower growth. For example, the HSbC purchasing managers' index for manufacturing industry, which mainly 

comprises private-sector SmEs, has dropped back below the 50 point threshold that indicates growth in the 

manufacturing sector. In October 2013 it rose to 50.9 points, the highest level for seven months, but in march 

it was back down at 48.0 points.3

The latest data make it clear that investment still has a considerable influence on growth momentum in China. 

To ensure sustained growth, the economy needs to be placed on a broader basis. Above all, domestic demand 

needs to be shifted further towards consumer spending to reduce dependence on state investment. The gov-

ernment is endeavouring to drive forward structural reforms to achieve this. The clearest sign is that in novem-

ber 2013 the Central Committee of the Communist Party adopted reform plans that include liberalising the fi-

nancial sector, exchange rates and interest on bank deposits, and stepping up the role of private enterprise. 

The reform plans are slowly starting to be reflected in market expectations. According to the national bureau 

of Statistics, at year end consumer confidence was back above 100 points. In December 2013 the index stood 

at 102.3 points (December 2012: 103.7 points).4

Companies like VanCamel that produce exclusively for the Chinese market are benefiting from the increasing 

significance of domestic consumption. nominal retail sales increased 13.1% year-on-year in 2013 (2012: 

14.3%5) to a new all-time high.4 That works to the benefit of the textile industry. In the apparel and textile sector, 

retail sales increased 11.6% year-on-year in 2013 (2012: 17.7% 5)4 Overall, according to official data from the 

national bureau of Statistics, value-added in the textile industry rose in 2013 to 8.7% (2012: 12.2%5).4

1 Institut für Weltwirtschaft: “Weltkonjunktur im Winter”, December 2013
2 International monetary Fund: “World Economic Outlook Update”, January 2014
3 HSbC Purchasing managers’ Index: “HSbC China manufacturing PmI”, April 2014
4 national bureau of Statistics of China, February 2014
5 national bureau of Statistics of China, February 2013

2. ECOnOmIC REVIEW
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2.2 market and market environment 

2.2.1 Retail sales of consumer goods in the PRC

VanCamel’s products are targeted at the Chinese consumer goods market, which has experienced as sharp 

upswing in recent years. According to the national bureau of Statistics, between 2007 and 2013 retail sales of 

consumer goods (see table) increased from Rmb 9.3 trillion (approx. EUR 1.1 trillion) to Rmb 23.8 trillion (ap-

prox. EUR 2.9 trillion). That represents an annual growth rate of nearly 17%.4 As outlined in the report on op-

portunities, the sector is benefiting from the economic growth of the PRC, the increase in disposable incomes 

in the country, progressive urbanisation and the changing spending habits of the rising number of affluent ur-

ban consumers. In 2012, urban households accounted for almost nearly 87% of total spending on consumer 

goods in China, while rural households only accounted for a small proportion of the total.4 The positive trend in 

the sector is supported by the Chinese government’s 12th Five year Plan, which was adopted in march 2011. 

This aims to drive forward the restructuring on the Chinese economy by encouraging domestic consumption, 

expanding the service sector, shifting processing towards higher quality products and improving energy effi-

ciency and environmental protection. That is also reflected in the expectations set out in the company's outlook 

for the future.

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Retail sales of consumer goods  
(in Rmb trillion) 9.3 11.5 13.3 15.7 18.4 21.0 23.8

Annual growth rate 18.2 % 22.7 % 15.5 % 18.3 % 17.1 % 14.3 % 13.1 %

(Source: national bureau of Statistics of China, February 2014)

2.2.2 Chinese menswear market

VanCamel’s products target the menswear sector in the PRC. This is an important sub-segment of the overall 

Chinese apparel market, which comprises ladies’ wear, menswear, shoes and accessories. In recent years 

China has become one of the world’s largest markets for menswear. With an average growth rate of 16.6% 

between 2007 and 2012 the Chinese menswear market grew far faster than the apparel industry as a whole, 

achieving a total market size of Rmb 549.7 billion (approx. EUR 67.8 billion). menswear therefore accounts for 

around 39% of the total apparel industry.6

The increased presence of international fashion labels has contributed to this. In major centres, in particular, 

competition is therefore increasing steadily. As a result, more companies are shifting their focus to tier 2 and 3 

locations. To set themselves apart from the competition, some store operators have started to develop their 

own brands in a bid to increase profit margins and raise customer loyalty. At the same time, apparel manufac-

turers are endeavouring to diversify their portfolios: introducing new product groups and realizing multi-brand 

strategies are commonplace.

6 market Research Report by marketing Research Inc., April 2013



42 VanCamel AG – Annual Report 2013

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

menswear market in the PRC  
(in Rmb billion) 255.2 296.4 336.9 400.8 477.6 549.7

Annual growth rate 16.1 % 13.7 % 19.0 % 19.2 % 15.1 %

(Source: market Research Report by marketing Research Inc., April 2013)

The strong growth is closely linked to the increasing significance that men in particular attach to clothing in the 

wake of the general economic trend. The most important consumer group is men in the 25-45 age bracket, 

which accounts for 30% of the total population. This target group has strong spending habits and preferences, 

and individuality and design are becoming increasingly important. According to reliable studies, 42% of male 

customers prefer casual clothing, 41% want business attire and 17% have a preference for sportswear.7 

The casual wear segment has grown particularly fast in China in recent years. In 2012 market volume was al-

ready Rmb 236.5 billion.8 The average annual growth rate of 17.7% since 2007 was above the overall trend in 

the menswear market. This trend has prompted many manufacturers to enter this market. While the market 

share of large companies is increasing steadily, many smaller producers are benefiting from the use of innova-

tive distribution channels, which enable them to continue to dominate the mass market.

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

market for casual menswear in the PRC (in Rmb 
billion) 105.0 122.9 140.8 169.1 203.4 236.5

Annual growth rate 17.1 % 14.6 % 20.3 % 19.2 % 16.3 %

(Source: market Research Report by marketing Research Inc., April 2013)

While price and utility used to be the most important criteria for menswear purchases in China, fashion aspects 

are now moving into the spotlight. Fashion labels that meet customers’ interest in greater individuality are ben-

efiting from this. That is reflected in the growth of this specific market segment. between 2007 and 2012 the 

Chinese market for men's fashions grew by an average of 19.6% a year. With a total market value of Rmb 95.3 

billion (approx. EUR 11.8 billion) in 2012, the fashion sector now accounts for more than 40% of the total market 

for men's casual wear.

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013e

market size of casual menswear  
fashions in the PRC (in Rmb billion) 39.0 45.0 53.0 63.8 78.3 95.3 106.0

Annual growth rate 15.3 % 17.9 % 20.3 % 22.8 % 21.7 % 11.3 %

(Source: market Research Report by marketing Research Inc., April 2013)

Chinese fashion labels are expected to raise their influence on the men's casual wear market still further in the 

period to 2020.8 It is difficult to imagine demand declining again once consumers have become accustomed to 

the benefits of high-quality individual products. Despite lower overall economic growth, an average annual 

growth rate of 19.5% is therefore forecast for this segment in the coming years. That would raise the value of 

this market to Rmb 216.3 billion (approx. EUR 26.5 billion) and increase the market share of men's casual 

wear.8 However, in order to meet this rise in demand, manufacturers will have to raise inventories, which could 

dampen sector growth in the short term.

In view of the market size and consumer purchasing power, fashion labels could grow rapidly in China. That 

said, in order to survive manufacturers need to increase capacity and improve their market recognition. At the 

7 http://info.cloth.hc360.com/2011/03/071244464416-3.shtml
8 market Research Report by marketing Research Inc., April 2013
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same time, rationalising distribution channels and raising productivity per business unit are becoming more 

important. To increase the company’s market position in this environment and gain new customers, marketing 

is becoming more and more important. In particular, sponsoring events, digital marketing and building flagship 

stores help raise market awareness. That gives companies like VanCamel scope to play a leading role in the 

men’s fashion industry in the future.

VanCamel has its own fashionable casual wear, businesswear and sportswear lines, so it covers all segments 

of the menswear market. Within each of these segments it markets both apparel and footwear. 

2.2.2.1 Apparel

The Chinese apparel industry grew by an average of 13.3% p.a. between 2007 and 2012.9 Given the decline in 

export demand resulting from the global economic crisis, growth rates have declined slightly in recent years. 

Average market growth of around 6.9% p.a. is forecast up to 2018.9 The domestic market is becoming increas-

ingly important and is also benefiting from the rise in disposable incomes, continuing urbanisation and the 

availability of diversified distribution channels. manufacturers are increasingly focusing on quality, design and 

brand value rather than price. OEm suppliers who previously produced entirely for established labels are in-

creasingly turning their attention to ODm producers. Companies are offsetting the necessary investment in 

marketing and product development by shifting production from expensive coastal areas to less expensive 

inland regions. In addition, productivity can be increased by new machinery and software applications. 

The sector is highly competitive and comprises a large number of small and mid-sized enterprises (SmEs). 

The market share of the four largest manufacturers is just 4.2%.9 Local manufacturers are also facing compe-

tition from South-East Asian countries like Vietnam and Indonesia, where wage costs are lower. 

2.2.2.2 Shoes

The Chinese footwear industry comprises more than 6,000 companies,10 making the country the world’s largest 

shoe producer. Within the last five years, the sector has posted an annual growth rate of 11.8%, well above 

growth in the economy as a whole.10 Domestic demand, which grew by 16.2% in the same period, is increas-

ingly becoming the main growth driver.10 The background is the same as for the apparel sector: rising dispos-

able income and ongoing urbanisation. Quality and design are becoming key competitive factors in this envi-

ronment. 

The market is expected to grow by around 6.9% p.a. up to 2018.10 Sector concentration is slightly higher than 

in the apparel industry: the four biggest companies account for 6.8% of the market.10 

9 IbISWorld, “Apparel manufacturing in China”, market Research Report 2013
10 IbISWorld, “Footwear manufacturing in China”, market Research Report 2013
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2.3 Earnings, asset and financial position of the VanCamel Group

2.3.1 Overall position

Compared with the prior-year period, the VanCamel Group grew sales revenue by 4.2% to EUR 175.4 million 

in Fy 2013 (2012: EUR 168.3 million). both product lines contributed to the increase in revenue. Revenue from 

apparel rose 3.9% in Fy 2013 to EUR 122.8 million (2012: EUR 118.2 million) and revenue from shoes rose 

5.0% to EUR 52.6 million (2012: EUR 50.1 million).

The gross profit was EUR 58.9 million in Fy 2013 (2012: EUR 59.5 million), and the gross profit margin was 

33.6% (2012: 35.4%). Earnings before taxes (EbT) totalled EUR 49,0 million (2012: EUR 51.2 million). The 

pre-tax margin was therefore 27.9% (2012: 30.4%). Taking into account tax expense of EUR 15.8 million (2012: 

EUR 12.4 million), after-tax income was EUR 33.3 million in 2013 (2012: EUR 38.8 million) and earnings per 

share were EUR 2.22 (2012: EUR 2.60). The drop in profit was attributable to the stepwise increase in rebates 

for distributors introduced when accounting was switched to IFRS (see section 1.2).

The net cash inflow from operating activities was EUR 34.6 million in the reporting period 2013 (2012: EUR 41.4 

million). The cash outflow for financing activities of EUR 13.9 million (2012: outflow of EUR 12.5 million) main-

ly comprised a dividend payment of EUR 16.6 million (2012: EUR 11.7 million). The net rise in cash and cash 

equivalents in the reporting period was EUR 20.7 million (2012: EUR 28.8 million). Cash and cash equivalents 

therefore increased to EUR 66.2 million as of 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012: EUR 46.6 million).

VanCamel has neither current nor non-current liabilities to banks. The carrying amount of equity was EUR 81.6 

million as of 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012: EUR 66.2 million). The equity ratio therefore improved to 

77.1% in the reporting period (31 December 2012: 72.2%).

In view of the declining overall momentum in China and somewhat slower growth in the Chinese textile indus-

try, the management board believes that VanCamel’s performance was good in the reporting period

2.3.2 Earnings

Revenue

In Fy 2013 the Van Camel Group increased sales revenues by 4.2% year-on-year to EUR 175.4 million (2012: 

EUR 168.3 million). Since the VanCamel Group generates all revenues in the Chinese currency (renminbi) but 

reports its results in euros, the exchange rate of the renminbi versus the euro in the reporting period is particu-

larly important for the level of sales revenues and other financial indicators. In 2013, the Rmb depreciated by 

an average of around -0.5% against the euro, and growth was therefore higher on an Rmb basis. The revenue 

sales growth is in line with sector growth and was mainly due to the increase in market awareness resulting 

from the stock marketing listing, and rising marketing expenses.

The revenue split in the reporting period was as follows:
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Product line
year-on-year growth 

%
2013 

EUR million 
2012 

EUR million 

Apparel 3.9 122.8 118.2

Shoes 5.0 52.6 50.1

Total 4.2 175.4 168.3

both product lines registered growth in revenues. Revenue from apparel rose 3.9% in the reporting period to 

EUR 122.8 million (2012: EUR 118.2 million) and revenue from shoes rose 5.0% to EUR 52.6 million (2012: 

EUR 50.1 million). The revenue split between the two product lines was therefore basically stable and remains 

around 70% apparel and 30% shoes.

Orders

It should be noted that the company receives the majority of new orders following its two half-yearly trade 

shows, held in April and September. Seasonal fluctuations are also registered due to the fact that the autumn/

winter collection achieves higher volumes and higher average prices than the spring/summer collection. As a 

result, revenues are normally higher in the first six months than in the second half of the year.

Finance Income

This item comprises income from bank interest. In the reporting period finance income was EUR 0.2 million, as 

in the previous year (2012: EUR 0.2 million). 

Gross profit

The company's gross profit was EUR 58.9 million in 2013 (2012: EUR 59.5 million), giving a gross profit margin 

of 33.6% (2012: 35.4%). The slight decline in the gross profit margin was principally caused by the introduction 

of rebates for distributors (see section 1.2 of this management report for further details). This changeover 

meant that revenue did not rise as fast as the cost of sales (EUR 116.5 million compared with EUR 108.8 million 

in 2012), which held back the gross profit margin. 

The gross profit in the two product lines was as follows:

Product line
2013 

EUR million margin %
2012 

EUR million margin %

Apparel 41.4 33.7 41.8 35.4

Shoes 17.5 33.3 17.7 35.3

Total 58.9 33.6 59.5 35.4

Looking at the product lines, it is clear that there was a slight drop in the gross profit from the sale of both ap-

parel and shoes in the reporting period. While apparel generated a gross profit of EUR 41.4 million (2012: EUR 

41.8 million), the gross profit from the sale of shoes was EUR 17.5 million (2012: EUR 17.7 million).

The gross profit margins of the two products mirrored the change in gross profit. In the apparel product line that 

meant a slight decline from 35.4% to 33.7% while in the shoes product line the gross profit margin dropped 

from 35.3% to 33.3%. This is a result of the sales rebate increasing from 1.2% in Fy 2012 to 4.5% in Fy 2013. 

nevertheless, the gross profit margins were still high.
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Expenses

On the cost side, the increase in revenue in the reporting period was accompanied by a rise in marketing and 

distribution costs from EUR 6.5 million in 2012 to EUR 7.6 million in 2013. In view of the increasing significance 

of brand awareness for business success in the sector, the company increased marketing and selling expens-

es from 3.9% of revenue in 2012 to 4.3% in 2013. Analogously to the rise in revenue, administrative expenses 

rose from EUR 2.1 million to EUR 2.5 million in the reporting period. 

To continue to set fashion trends in the future and create and successfully market new products, styles and 

designs aligned to the brand philosophy, VanCamel is dependent on well-trained employees that take its brand 

philosophy on board and drive it forward. The company’s headcount therefore increased from 199 as of 31 

December 2012 to 208 as of 31 December 2013. As a As a consequence, salaries and related costs rose to 

EUR 1.7 million (2012: EUR 1.5 million) and the salaries and related costs ratio was 1.0% in 2013 (2012: 0.9%).

Research and development

VanCamel is convinced that constantly developing innovative designs is one of its key success factors. The 

Development division had 46 employees as of 31 December 2013. That was more than 20% of the total work-

force, highlighting the enormous importance of R&D for the company. In addition to its in-house design team, 

VanCamel uses experienced specialists from leading global design centres to advise it on product develop-

ment. Overall, R&D spending totalled EUR 0.5 million in 2013, which was just slightly more than in the previous 

year (2012: EUR 0.5 million). All expenses were recognized in profit and loss in the reporting period.

Financial result

In 2013 financial income was almost unchanged year-on-year at EUR 0.2 million (2012: EUR 0.2 million). Since 

VanCamel had neither current nor non-current liabilities to banks in the reporting period, it did not have any 

interest expense. As a result it reported a positive financial result of EUR 0.2 million (2012: EUR 0.2 million).

Tax expense

The Chinese subsidiaries of VanCamel AG have been liable for corporation tax at a rate of 25.0% since 1 

January 2012. The intermediate holding company in Hong Kong, VanCamel Int’l Group (KG) Co., Limited, was 

not liable for taxation in 2012 as it did not have any taxable income. The taxable income of VanCamel AG in 

2013 was almost fully offset against tax loss carryforwards. In the consolidated financial statements, this led to 

a corresponding reduction in deferred tax assets.

VanCamel’s income taxes amounted to EUR 15.8 million for 2013 (2012: EUR 12.4 million).

Earnings

EbITDA was EUR 48.8 million in 2013, compared with EUR 51.0 million in 2012. The operating result (EbIT) 

was EUR 48.8 million in the reporting period (2012: EUR 51.0 million). As in the prior-year period, VanCamel 

did not have any interest expense, while interest income amounted to EUR 0.2 million (2012: EUR 0.2 million). 

The financial result was slightly positive, so EbT was EUR 49.0 million (2012: EUR 51.2 million). Tax expense 

rose from EUR 12.4 million in 2012 to EUR 15.8 million in 2013. Overall, the 2013 result was EUR 33.3 million 

(2012: 38.8 million), giving earnings per share of EUR 2.22 (2012: EUR 2.60). 

Since currency translation resulted in a negative effect of minus EUR 1.3 million (2012: minus EUR 0.4 million), 

comprehensive income was EUR 31.9 million (2012: EUR 38.4 million).
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2.3.3 Asset position

Equity

Equity increased from EUR 66.2 million as of 31 December 2012 to EUR 81.6 million as of 31 December 2013, 

mainly because of the positive net result in the reporting period, retained earnings increased by EUR 10.1 mil-

lion to EUR 64.4 million (31 December 2012: EUR 54.3 million). The share capital of the Company was in-

creased by way of contribution in kind to EUR 15.0 million. This effect was partially offset by the analogous 

application of the principles to the reverse acquisition with EUR 10.3 million (negative capital reserve). The 

legal reserve in China increased from EUR 6.2 million to EUR 7.7 million in the reporting period while the for-

eign currency translation reserve decreased from EUR 5.8 million to EUR 4.5 million. The equity ratio therefore 

improved from 72.2% to 77.1% in the reporting period.

Non-current assets

non-current assets decreased from EUR 1.3 million as of 31 December 2012 to EUR 0.6 million in the reporting 

period. This was principally due to a considerable drop in deferred tax assets from EUR 1.1 million to EUR 0.5 

million. There was also a slight decline in intangible assets from EUR 0.2 million to EUR 0.1 million. Property, 

plant and equipment was almost unchanged at EUR 27 thousand as of 31 December 2013 (31 December 

2012: EUR 31 thousand). 

Current assets

In Fy 2013 current assets increased from EUR 90.4 million to EUR 105.2 million, principally due to a cash flow-

related rise in cash and cash equivalents from EUR 46.6 million as of 31 December 2012 to EUR 66.2 million 

as of 31 December 2013. Due to a rise in sales revenues, trade receivables increased from EUR 30.7 million 

to EUR 33.4 million in the reporting period. Inventories, which only account for a small proportion of current 

assets, declined further from EUR 0.6 million to EUR 0.4 million due to more delivery of the inventory to our 

distributors before the year end cut-off date.

Current liabilities

Current liabilities decreased from EUR 25.5 million to EUR 24.2 million in 2013. This was primarily attributable 

to the fact that as of 31 December 2013, unlike 31 December 2012, there were no outstanding dividend pay-

ments (31 December 2012: EUR 4.9 million). moreover, trade payables reduced from EUR 5.9 million to EUR 

4.3 million as a result of earlier deliveries of goods and settlement of the payables before the year end cut-off 

date. However the decrease is partially offset by the increase in outstanding withholding tax from EUR 5.2 mil-

lion to EUR 7.5 million and outstanding income tax increased from EUR 4.5 million to EUR 6.9 million.

2.3.4 Financial position

Capital structure

The company’s capital was increased by EUR 15.4 million to EUR 81.6 million in 2013. This increase is mainly 

due to the net income of EUR 33.3 million in 2013. The shareholders’ meeting will decide on the appropriation 

of the net income. Overall, the equity ratio improved from 72.2% as of 31 December 2012 to 77.1% as of 31 

December 2013. VanCamel does not have either current or non-current liabilities to banks, so it is not affected 

by the credit squeeze in the Chinese banking sector. moreover, its cash flow remains strong, resulting in an 

increase in cash and cash equivalents. The company’s capital and financing structure is therefore extremely 

sound and gives VanCamel the necessary entrepreneurial headroom for further expansion. As of 31 Decem-

ber 2013, there was no deterioration in the balance sheet ratios compared with the previous year.
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Capital expenditures

VanCamel invested EUR 1 thousand in non-current assets in 2013 (2012: EUR 10 thousand). VanCamel con-

tinues to adopt the asset light business model.

Liquidity

VanCamel finances its business operations entirely out of equity and the operating cash flow. These funds are 

mainly used to finance working capital. In addition, the company finances product development and brand 

building.

The net cash inflow from operating activities remained high at EUR 34.6 million in 2013 (2012: EUR 41.4 mil-

lion). After extrapolation for tax payments, the cash inflow from operating activities was EUR 44.9 million in 

2013 (2012: EUR 49.2 million). The year-on-year decline was due to a slight reduction in net income, partly due 

to an increase in rebates, and higher tax payments (EUR 10.3 million versus EUR 7.8 million in 2012). by con-

trast, the rise in trade receivables was limited and inventories were reduced.

The net cash outflow for investing activities declined from EUR 10 thousand to EUR 1 thousand in the reporting 

period.

The net cash outflow for financing activities was EUR 13.9 million in 2013 (2012: outflow EUR 12.5 million). It 

principally comprised a dividend payment of EUR 16.6 million (2012: EUR 11.7 million).

The net rise in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period was EUR 20.7 million (2012: EUR 28.8 mil-

lion). Cash and cash equivalents therefore increased to EUR 66.2 million as of December 31, 2013 (December 

31, 2012: EUR 46.6 million).
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2.4 Earnings, asset and financial position of VanCamel AG

2.4.1 Overall information

The following information refers to the separate financial statements of VanCamel AG prepared on the basis of 

German GAAP (HGb). Since VanCamel AG was established on 24 September 2012, the comparative figures 

for 2012 refer to the shortened fiscal year from 24 September to 31 December 2012.

2.4.2 Earnings

VanCamel AG is a holding and administration entity and provides general support for the entire VanCamel 

Group. 

In 2013, VanCamel AG itself generated revenues of kEUR 60 arising from the service contracts with the sub-

sidiary.

EUR thousand
1 January 2013 –  

31 December 2013
24 September 2012 –  

31 December 2012

Revenue 60 0

Dividend income 0 0

Administrative expenses -213 -15

Investment income 5,130 0

Result from ordinary activities 4,977 -15

Income tax -32 0

net profit / (loss) 4,945 -15

Loss carried forward from previous year -15 0

Transfer to legal reserve -246 0

Accumulated profit/loss 4,684 -15
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2.4.3 Assets, equity, liabilities and financial position

EUR thousand 31 December 2013 31 December 2012

non-current assets

Financial assets 14,950 -

Long-term assets 14,950 -

Current assets

Amount due from subsidiaries 5,191 -

Other assets 30 -

Cash and bank balances 54 61

Prepaid expenses 59 -

Short-term assets 5,334 61

Total assets 20,284 61

Current liabilities and provisions

Tax provisions 32 -

Other provisions 167 13

Trade payables 143 2

Amount due to Shareholders 11 11

Total liabilities 353 26

net assets 19,931 35

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the company

Share capital 15,000 50

Statutory reserve 247 -

Retained earnings 4,684 -15

Total equity 19,931 35

The shareholder’s meeting held on 18 June 2013 resolved an increase in the company’s share capital from 

EUR 50,000 by EUR 14.950.000 to EUR 15,000,000 against the issuance of 14,950,000 no-par value ordinary 

bearer shares each with a notional value of EUR 1.00. This capital increase was executed through a contribu-

tion in kind where all shares in VanCamel lnt’l Group (HK) Co. Limited, Hong Kong, were contributed to Van-

Camel AG. The share capital increase became effective on 3 July 2013 when it was registered in the commer-

cial register of the local court in Cologne.

2.4.4 Liquidity

Cash and cash equivalents amounted to kEUR 54 million as of 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012: 

kEUR 61).
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3.1 Remuneration of the management board

In accordance with the provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act, the Supervisory board of VanCamel 

AG is responsible for setting the remuneration of the management board. The Supervisory board has con-

cluded service contracts with members of the management board. These do not contain agreements on fixed 

remuneration as all management board members receive separate fixed remuneration for their work at sub-

sidiaries of Van Camel AG. The remuneration of the management board comprises:

1. Fixed remuneration

2. Fringe benefits and other forms of remuneration

 

These elements are broken down as follows:

1. The fixed remuneration comprises a fixed annual salary paid in equal instalments. It is defined in service 

agreements with the subsidiaries. mr. Ke and mr. Zhuang are paid by the Chinese subsidiaries for their work 

at these companies while mr. Soh is paid by VanCamel HK.

2. The fringe benefits and other forms of remuneration comprise transfer allowances (rental costs, flight costs) 

and non-monetary benefits. 

 

Criteria for assessing the appropriateness of the management board’s remuneration comprise, in particular, 

the duties of each member, his or her personal performance, the overall performance of the management 

board and the economic situation, success and future prospects of the company, taking into account the busi-

ness context and remuneration paid by peers.

In 2013 the members of the management board of VanCamel AG did not receive either fixed or variable remu-

neration for their work on the management board. The total remuneration of the present members of the man-

agement board in 2013 based on their work for subsidiaries was kEUR 391 (2012: kEUR 296).

An individual breakdown can be found in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

3.2 Remuneration of the Supervisory board

In accordance with company’s articles of association, the shareholders’ meeting decides on the level of remu-

neration paid to the Supervisory board. For his work as Chairman of the Supervisory board, mr. Wang re-

ceived remuneration of EUR 15 thousand in 2013, while his deputy, mr. Xie, received EUR 12 thousand and 

ms. Hu received EUR 10 thousand. If a member only holds a seat on the Supervisory board for part of a year, 

remuneration is paid on a pro rata basis. In addition to the fixed remuneration, the members of the Supervi-

sory board are reimbursed any costs and expenses incurred in the performance of their duties. no variable 

remuneration is currently agreed for the Supervisory board. However, the articles of association do not ex-

clude variable remuneration, so it could be decided on by the shareholders’ meeting.

The members of the Supervisory board are included in a Directors’ and Officers’ (D&O) insurance policy cov-

ering their work for the company.

3. REmUnERATIOn SySTEmS
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The declaration on corporate management pursuant to sec. 289a of the German Commercial Code (HGb) 

comprises the declaration of conformity pursuant to sec. 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), 

relevant information on corporate management practices, and descriptions of how the management board and 

Supervisory board work, and of the composition and method of working of their committees.

This is contained in the corporate governance report included in the annual report for 2013. The corporate 

governance report is also available in the internet at www.vancamel.de, Investor Relations / Corporate Govern-

ance.

4. DECLARATIOn OF COnFORmITy On CORPORATE 
mAnAGEmEnT PURSUAnT TO SEC. 289A HGb 
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Composition of the share capital 

The share capital of VanCamel AG was EUR 15,000,000.00 as of 31 December 2013 and was divided into 

15,000,000 no-par bearer shares with a theoretical pro rata share of the share capital of EUR 1.00 per share. 

All shares have the same dividend and voting rights, with the exception of treasury stock, which does not con-

fer any rights on the company. The rights and obligations of shareholders are specified in the provisions of the 

German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), especially in sec. 12, sec. 53a ff, sec. 118 ff and sec. 186. 

The company was established with registered share capital of EUR 50,000 divided into 50,000 no-par value 

ordinary bearer shares. On 18 June 2013 the share capital was increased by a shareholders’ resolution through 

contributions in kind: mr. Xiaming Ke and the other shareholders at the time contributed or arranged for the 

contribution of all shares in VanCamel HK, i.e. 50,000,000 shares at HKD 1.00 (approx. EUR 0.098) each, 

against the issuance of 14,950,000 no-par value ordinary bearer shares each with a notional value of EUR 

1.00. The share capital increase became effective on 3 July 2013 when it was registered in the commercial 

register of the local court in Cologne.

Restrictions on voting rights and the transfer of shares

Restrictions on the voting rights of shares could result from statutory provisions (sec. 71b and sec. 136 AktG). 

The management board is not aware of any other restrictions on the exercise of voting rights or the transfer of 

shares.

Shareholdings exceeding 10% of the voting rights

Under the provisions of German securities trading legislation, every investor whose proportion of the voting 

rights in the company reaches, exceeds or falls below certain thresholds as a result of the purchase or sale of 

shares or in any other way must notify the company and the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (bafin) 

thereof. The lowest threshold for such disclosures is 3%. 

mr. Xiaming Ke has notified the company that he holds a direct stake in the company's capital that exceeds 

50% of the voting rights.

Shares with special rights according rights of control

There are no shares in the company with special rights according rights of control.

Methods of controlling voting rights where employees hold shares in the company and do not 

directly exercise their right of control

VanCamel AG currently does not have any employee stock programmes. 

Statutory provisions and regulations in the articles of association on the appointment and dismissal 

of members of the Management Board and changes to the articles of association 

The appointment and dismissal of members of the management board is governed by sec. 84 and sec. 85 of 

the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). Pursuant to the statutory provisions (sec. 179 paragraph 1 AktG) 

any amendment to the articles of association requires a resolution of the General Shareholders’ meeting. Fur-

ther rules on amendments are contained in sec. 113 and sec. 119 AktG. Under sec. 10 paragraph 2 of the 

company's articles of association, the Supervisory board may make amendments to the articles of associa-

tion, providing these are merely editorial.

5. OTHER InFORmATIOn (ACCORDInG TO  
§ 315 SEC. 4 HGb)
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In addition, according to sec. 5 of the articles of association, the Supervisory board is authorized to amend the 

articles of association after utilization of the authorized capital or the lapse of the period for the utilization of the 

authorized capital.

Authorization of the Management Board to issue or buy back shares

Under sec. 5 paragraph 1 of the articles of association, as of 31 December 2013 the management board was 

authorized, until 17 June 2018, to increase the company’s share capital, with the consent of the Supervisory 

board, by up to EUR 7,500,000.00 by issuing new shares for cash or contributions in kind in one or more 

tranches. Further details are given in sec. 5 paragraphs 1 to 3 of the company’s articles of association, which 

can be downloaded from the company’s website at Investor Relations/Corporate Governance. 

by resolution of the Extraordinary General meeting on 12 September 2013, the management board is author-

ized to acquire own shares up to 10% of the share capital. The authorization will expire on the date on which 

the treasury stock exceeds the limit of 10% or on 11 September 2018.

The acquisition of own shares can take place via the stock exchange or by an offer to all shareholders. In Fy 

2013 the company did not make use of the authorization.

Principal agreements entered into by the company that are governed by provisions on a change of 

control resulting from a takeover bid

There are no agreements which give the contractual partner a right of termination in the event of a change in 

the company’s shareholder or ownership structure such that the shareholders or owners relinquish control over 

the company.

Compensation agreements entered into by the company with members of the Management Board or 

employees in the event of a takeover bid 

There are no compensation agreements with either members of the management board or employees relating 

to a takeover bid.
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6.1 Opportunity and risk management

Risks constitute the general possibility of internal or external events that could adversely affect the financial 

situation of VanCamel AG and its subsidiaries and that could jeopardise the achievement of set objectives. 

VanCamel’s business is exposed to a large number of risks that are inseparably linked to entrepreneurial activ-

ity. The role of risk management is to make optimal use of business opportunities and only enter into the as-

sociated risks if utilizing the opportunities creates sufficient value. All risks entered into must therefore be offset 

by appropriate opportunities. Therefore, opportunity and risk management are closely interlinked within the 

VanCamel Group to ensure an appropriate relationship between opportunity and risk. Direct responsibility for 

the early and regular identification, analysis and management of opportunities rests with the management 

board. The company does not have an opportunity management system. VanCamel intensively analyses the 

market and the competition, market scenarios, relevant cost drivers and critical success factors, including 

those in the political environment in which the company operates. In decision-making, VanCamel relies on an 

opportunity-oriented approach but does not neglect risks. Generally, VanCamel employs a conservative risk 

management strategy. The central objective of financial management at VanCamel is to ensure sufficient li-

quidity reserves at all times, avoid financial risks and secure financial flexibility. The basis for safeguarding li-

quidity is integrated financial and liquidity planning spanning a number of years. VanCamel includes all con-

solidated subsidiaries in this planning process. The operating business and the resulting cash flow is the 

Group’s main source of liquidity. Operational planning is based on a long-term liquidity forecast. The short and 

medium-term forecasts are updated quarterly. Surplus funding within the Group is distributed to those areas 

that require it via cash pooling in order to reduce external funding requirements and optimise net interest ex-

pense. The VanCamel Group has no derivatives or other financial instruments for hedging purposes, nor does 

it hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

Selected opportunities for the VanCamel Group are discussed in section 6.6 “Opportunities and success fac-

tors”.

6.2 Risk management system

Taking opportunities and being able to recognize and analyse risks and reduce them with appropriate strate-

gies are important elements in the company’s activities. Systematic risk management is an ongoing task for 

the risk owners, i.e. the management board, the risk manager and the management of each field of responsi-

bility. However, even an appropriate and functioning risk management system cannot provide any absolute 

certainty.

At VanCamel, the evaluation and monitoring of risks of relevance to the company is performed initially by the 

heads of department. They report regularly to the Chairman of the management board, who monitors business 

performance and the associated risks and takes suitable counter-measures were necessary. 

VanCamel steadily improves and develops risk management, but has not yet implemented a comprehensive 

risk management system. Given the company’s prodigious growth in recent years, VanCamel is aware of the 

need for an advanced risk management system that would also act as a timely risk identification system in ac-

6. RISK mAnAGEmEnT AnD REPORT On  
OPPORTUnITIES AnD RISKS
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cordance with sec. 91 paragraph 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The company is therefore 

engaged in talks with external consultants with a view to introducing a system of this type in 2014.

6.3 Internal control system with respect to the Group’s accounting process

VanCamel has an internal control system in place and has taken first steps to develop a new risk management 

system to define and implement appropriate structures and processes for accounting and financial reporting 

throughout the Group. This system is designed to ensure timely, uniform and accurate accounting for all busi-

ness processes and transactions. It ensures compliance with statutory regulations and accounting and finan-

cial reporting standards, and is binding on all the companies included in the consolidated financial statements. 

The relevance and consequences for the consolidated financial statements of any amendments to laws, ac-

counting or financial reporting standards or other pronouncements are continually analysed. These measures 

serve to identify and evaluate risks, and to limit and monitor any risks that may be identified.

The accounting process is controlled by the management board and supervised by the Supervisory board. 

The accounting and financial reporting process for VanCamel is managed by the Controlling and Accounting 

Department and an external service provider that supports the IFRS-based financial reporting. Functions and 

responsibilities in these areas are clearly assigned and there are mutual control processes to ensure a con-

tinuous exchange of information. The Group companies prepare their financial statements locally and transmit 

them with the aid of a data model that is standardized throughout the Group. The Group companies are re-

sponsible for compliance with the directives and procedures applicable throughout the Group and for the 

proper and timely operation of their accounting-related processes and systems. The consolidated financial 

statements are prepared centrally by an external German service company on the basis of the data supplied 

by the subsidiaries. The consolidation, certain reconciliation operations to Group policies and monitoring of the 

related time schedules and procedures are performed by the Accounting Department and the German external 

service provider.

The internal control system for financial accounting is based on defined preventive and supervisory control 

mechanisms such as systematic and manual checking, predefined approval procedures, the separation of 

functions and compliance with guidelines. Appropriate IT precautions are in place to protect the financial sys-

tems used from unauthorised access. Financial accounting systems only use standard software. External 

consultants such as auditors and lawyers are consulted on changes and complex accounting issues.

nevertheless, there can never be any absolute certainty that material accounting misstatements are avoided.

6.4 Overall risk situation

Overall, the Group’s risks are limited and calculable. based on the information currently available, the manage-

ment board is of the opinion that with regard to present and in the foreseeable future there are no significant 

individual risks that could represent a threat to the survival of the company. 



57Combined management report of the VanCamel Group and VanCamel AG 

In view of the strong cash flow from the company’s business operations and its sound financing structure, the 

management is also of the opinion that in aggregate the risks do constitute a threat to the continued existence 

of the company.

In 2013 there were no risks to the continued existence of the company.

6.5 Risk factors

Through its risk management activities, VanCamel has identified the following main risks:

Political risks

VanCamel PRC conducts all of the Group’s business operations and generates all revenue. The PRC economy 

differs from the economies of most developed countries in many respects, for example, in its structure, the 

control of foreign exchange and the allocation of resources. While the PRC economy has changed fundamen-

tally from a centrally planned system to a more market-oriented economy, the government still plays a signifi-

cant role in regulating industries by imposing industrial policies. Although political conditions in China seem to 

be generally stable, legislative and regulatory changes may occur which might negatively affect VanCamel’s 

interests.

Although the company believes that the continuing economic reforms will have a positive effect on the PRC’s 

overall and long-term development, the company cannot exclude that any changes might have a negative im-

pact on its operations. If political changes were to hold back the forecast development of, for example, con-

sumer spending, this could prevent the company meeting the revenue and earnings targets outlined in the 

“Outlook" section.

Market risks

VanCamel’s business is dependent on the overall economic development of the PRC, which is in turn influ-

enced by global economic momentum. It cannot be ruled out that growth in the Chinese economy could slow 

and that this could have a negative impact on VanCamel's business. For example, declining economic growth 

in China could increase competition within the textile industry and heighten price pressure. moreover, lower 

growth rates could adversely affect the inflow of foreign investment. That could impair financing conditions for 

companies, leading to liquidity problems. The overall economic trend and associated factors such as interest 

rates, exchange rates and inflation also affect the income of the country’s inhabitants and their willingness to 

spend. Accordingly, a change in market conditions could have a negative impact on VanCamel’s business, 

resulting in failure to meet the revenue and earnings targets outlined in the “Outlook” section.

VanCamel is aware that the apparel industry is a highly competitive sector with low entry barriers. Companies 

compete on the basis of key criteria such as brand loyalty, product diversity, product design, product quality 

and price. Some companies have a similar or higher market penetration and a higher brand profile than Van-

Camel, and may have better access to financial, marketing and distribution resources. To strengthen its com-

petitiveness and market position, VanCamel invests selectively in product development and raising awareness 

of its brand. However, if it does not manage to compete successfully with new and established competitors in 

the prevailing market conditions, or in changing market conditions, this could have a negative impact on its 

business and it could fail to achieve the forecast revenue and earnings targets.
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Dependence on distribution partners

VanCamel markets its own-label products exclusively through regional distributors who sell them to authorized 

retailers. Consequently, all of VanCamel’s revenues are generated with regional distributors. All contracts with 

these regional distributors are for one year and can be renewed up to one month before they expire. However, 

there is no guarantee that VanCamel can extent contracts that come up for renewal on terms that are accept-

able to the company. If it should lose distributors, there is a risk that it might not be able to find substitutes im-

mediately or that the substitutes might not have a comparable network of authorized retail outlets. Further, 

distributors could reduce volume sales or endeavour to obtain lower prices. 

All distributors give a contractual undertaking that they will only sell VanCamel products and that they will fully 

support the company’s sales strategy. Since VanCamel does not have a direct contractual relationship with the 

authorized retailers, it has to rely on its distributors to implement and monitor compliance with its sales strat-

egy. VanCamel has a right to replace regional distributors at any time if they do not implement aspects of its 

sales policy such as customer service, pricing policy and shop fittings as contractually agreed. However, such 

failings could damage the VanCamel brand and result in a loss of goodwill. moreover, there is no guarantee 

that VanCamel would be able to find comparable new distributors within a short time.

Since the company does not currently have any plans to open retail stores of its own, the sale of its products 

remains dependent on regional distributors and authorized retailers. moreover, in its plans to extend its net-

work of retail outlets, the company is dependent on the ability of distributors to gain reliable and qualified new 

retailers. If the distributors are unable to extend their network of retailers and to successfully market VanCam-

el's products, and if VanCamel is unable to efficiently manage and oversee the distribution of its products via 

regional distributors and their authorised retailers, this could have a negative impact on VanCamel’s business 

and could adversely affect its ability to achieve its revenue and earnings targets outlined in the “Outlook” sec-

tion.

To reduce the risks described here, VanCamel chooses its distributors carefully using a stringent selection 

procedure and reviews them once a year. That results in lasting business relationships: all 41 current distribu-

tors have worked with VanCamel for at least three years. nevertheless, the company is endeavouring to re-

duce its dependence on individual distributors. In line with this, in the past five years there has been a consid-

erable reduction in the five largest distributors’ share of its business. In 2010 they accounted for 58.2% of the 

value of the apparel business. by 2013, this had dropped to just 54.9%. The business share of five largest 

footwear distributors dropped form 40.5% to 37.3% in the same period. To secure the quality of the distribution 

network and enhance the efficiency of its structures, VanCamel has introduced a system of “key distributors”. 

Essentially, one key distributor is responsible for distribution in a specific area. In addition, the company has 

installed an information management system to help customer service provide a timely response to changes 

in demand and to give retailers the latest market information. As well as helping retailers to market the com-

pany’s products efficiently, this raises VanCamel’s revenues and minimizes inventory periods.

Brand risk

VanCamel is convinced that in the apparel sector brand image and brand awareness play a central role in 

consumers' purchasing decisions. The company’s future success is therefore dependent on its ability to in-

crease the target group’s awareness of the VanCamel brand and successfully protect the brand from unauthor-

ised use by third parties. Complaints and other negative headlines could detract from the brand image and 

affect volume sales of the product. That could prevent the company from achieving it’s the revenue and earn-

ings targets set out in the “Outlook" section.
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To counter these risks, VanCamel is continuing to invest in raising brand awareness. The principal measures 

include TV ads geared to the target group and the opening of flagship stores at strategic locations in coopera-

tion with the respective distributor. In this, VanCamel benefits from the fact that it decided early on to differen-

tiate itself from the competition through a clear brand strategy. Effective enforcement of intellectual property 

rights is important to maintain brand value and protect the company’s interests. Therefore, all products are 

marketed under the ”VanCamel” brand name, which is registered as a trademark in the PRC. Due to the cost 

and difficulty of monitoring, however, unauthorised use or abuse of the brand cannot be ruled out. 

Product development risks

The company’s success depends to a large extent on the ability to successfully anticipate trends in the fashion 

sector and to respond rapidly to changes in consumer demand patterns. To ensure that the company does not 

miss key trends, employees working in this area focus on the latest sector trends. VanCamel also uses a range 

of sector services and websites and feeds the available data into in-house databases that are constantly being 

extended and updated. The design team intensively analyses sales data for individual products in order to 

derive trends and preferences that can be used in the development of new collections. In addition to its in-

house design team, VanCamel uses experienced specialists from leading global design centres to advise it on 

product development. Overall, the company believes that it is well-positioned to ensure timely identification of 

market developments and to successfully anticipate changing customer requirements. 

However, the development and launch of new products is time-consuming. Despite the measures outlined 

here, VanCamel therefore cannot ensure that the company always correctly evaluates market developments 

and successfully anticipates changing customer needs. The commercial success of newly designed products 

therefore always entails some uncertainty. moreover, it cannot be ruled out that new product designs (espe-

cially designs developed on the basis of customer specifications) might unwittingly infringe third-party prop-

erty rights. Although VanCamel does not currently have any indication of such claims by third parties, litigation, 

whether justified or not, could entail legal and other costs and cause lasting damage to the company's brand 

image.

If VanCamel is unable to come up with a steady stream of new and commercially successful products that meet 

changing consumer needs and do not infringe third-party rights, this could affect demand for its products and 

it might not able to achieve the revenue and earnings targets outlined in the “Outlook” section. 

Counterfeit products

VanCamel believes that recognition of the VanCamel brand is vital in the sale of its products and that effective 

enforcement of intellectual property rights is important for the protection of its interests. All of VanCamel’s 

products are marketed under the VanCamel brand. Therefore, the VanCamel brand has been registered as a 

trademark in the PRC.

VanCamel cannot assure that there will not be any unauthorised usage or misuse of the VanCamel brand as it 

may be difficult and costly to monitor any infringements in the PRC. In the event that third parties infringe Van-

Camel’s intellectual property rights in respect of its trademarks by counterfeiting its products, imitating or using 

VanCamel’s trademark without authorization from VanCamel, VanCamel may face considerable difficulties and 

costly litigation in order to fully protect its intellectual property rights. If VanCamel cannot adequately protect its 

brand, its business and its net assets, financial condition and results of operations and reputation could be 

adversely affected. 
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Dependence on contract manufacturers

All of VanCamel’s production is outsourced to local contract manufacturers in the provinces of Fujian, Zheijang 

and Guangdong. That entails a risk that such manufacturers might not fulfil their contractually agreed obliga-

tions correctly, punctually or in the agreed quality, which could result in additional costs for VanCamel or delay 

delivery to its distribution partners. moreover, contract manufacturers could raise prices if there is a significant 

increase in raw material and labour costs. If VanCamel is unable to pass price rises on to its distribution part-

ners, this could have an adverse effect on its business. Overall, these factors could cause it to fall short of the 

revenue and earnings targets set out in the “Outlook” section. 

To ensure unproblematic production flows, VanCamel chooses its contract manufacturers carefully using a 

stringent selection process. by providing accurate product data for these companies and instructing its person-

nel to check the goods delivered, it also aims to guarantee product quality. Products that do not meet the cri-

teria specified in its quality control handbook are returned to the manufacturer. In addition, VanCamel's quality 

assurance team inspects contract manufacturers’ facilities at least twice a year to ensure compliance with 

appropriate quality standards. VanCamel has a reliable and long-standing business relationship with the 32 

contract manufacturers it currently uses.

Human resources risks

VanCamel’s future success is dependent to a large extent on the performance of the management and other 

key personnel. If a member of the management or other key employee takes a job with a competitor, sets up a 

competing company or leaves the company for other reasons, this could result in VanCamel losing customers, 

suppliers, knowledge and important specialists or other employees. There can be no guarantee that Van-

Camel can retain management and other executives or that, if necessary, it can replace these employees with 

other qualified managers. Demand for such experienced personnel is very high so the search for staff with the 

relevant skills can be very time-consuming. Another risk is high employee turnover, which could result in a loss 

of know-how and internal problems in the development process. These factors could have a significant impact 

on the company’s business and prevent it meeting the revenue and earnings targets set out in the “Outlook” 

section.

To reduce this risk, VanCamel does not employ agency staff and pays great attention to continuous training of 

its employees. All new employees attend a special onboarding programme to give them the necessary skills, 

product knowledge and workflows. In addition, regular on-the-job training is provided to enhance practical 

skills. Where necessary the HR department also organizes workshops on specific selling and communication 

techniques and similar training sessions. In addition, particularly talented employees are given opportunities 

to visit regional retailers to further their training. In addition to the in-house training offerings, the company 

encourages employees to attend external seminars and workshops. 

Cost risks

VanCamel’s operating business is in China. As of 31 December 2013, the company had 208 employees in 

China. The company’s labour costs comprise wages, social security contributions and other social benefits. 

The minimum wage at VanCamel PRC's site in Shishi City has risen in recent years and influences the wages 

that VanCamel has to pay to remain an attractive employer for skilled staff. These personnel-related costs 

could rise significantly in the future. In addition, legislation could impose further social costs on employers. 

These factors could have a significant impact on the company’s business and prevent it meeting the forecast 

revenue and earnings targets.
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Financial risks

VanCamel pursues a financial risk avoidance strategy and endeavours to minimize financial market risks. The 

company is aware of the resultant opportunity costs, for example, interest foregone. Financial risks such as 

interest rate and exchange rate risks can arise from the parent company’s financing activities if funds borrowed 

cannot be passed on to the operating companies. Further, there is a risk that VanCamel might not be able to 

meet its financial obligations punctually. Liquidity management at VanCamel aims to ensure that the company 

always has sufficient equity and debt. Cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities are ex-

posed to permanent fluctuations. This could result in a reduction in the Group's liquidity, despite its high level 

of cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December 2013. Wherever possible, surplus liquidity is invested in the 

money market to earn interest.

Tax risks

All operating activities are conducted by VanCamel PRC, which is subject to Chinese tax law. Accordingly, any 

change in national tax legislation and the interpretation of the prevailing regulations could affect VanCamel’s 

performance. Furthermore, under PRC enterprise income tax laws, VanCamel HK may be treated as tax resi-

dent enterprise for PRC tax purposes and could therefore be subject to PRC taxation.

none of the entities of the Group has undergone a special tax investigation by the relevant tax authorities in 

the past. based on a future tax investigation or tax review, the company or its subsidiary could be required to 

make additional tax payments. In connection with any additional tax payments, there is also an interest risk as 

interest typically has to be paid on additional tax payments after a grace period. Furthermore, there is a risk 

that tax penalties could be triggered. These factors could have a significant impact on the company’s business 

and prevent it meeting the revenue and earnings targets set out in the “Outlook” section.

Currency risks

The Group conducts its operating business in renminbi (Rmb), which is currently not a freely convertible cur-

rency. The Rmb exchange rate is controlled by the authorities in the PRC and is tied to an international cur-

rency basket. Currency risks arise when the Group is involved in transactions that are settled in foreign curren-

cies. Since the consolidated financial statements for the reporting period are prepared in euros (EUR) and this 

will not change in the future, the Group is exposed to changes in the Rmb / EUR exchange rate. The translation 

risks resulting from fluctuations in the exchange rate could affect the Group’s earnings and asset position. A 

devaluation of the Rmb versus the euro would have a negative impact on the consolidated financial state-

ments. In addition, a volatile Rmb exchange rate could have a material and negative effect on both business 

activities and the Group’s earnings, assets and financial position. Although almost all of the company’s reve-

nues and expenses are in Rmb, changes in exchange rates could have a negative impact on the annual finan-

cial statements of VanCamel AG, which could possibly reduce future dividend payments. Overall, these factors 

could cause it to fall short of the revenue and earnings targets set out in the “Outlook” section.

To counter this risk, VanCamel AG only has the financial resources required to perform its administrative tasks; 

the main financial resources are held by the operating units. The company does not currently consider hedging 

to be necessary.

Default risks

Default risks arise from the granting of payment terms to customers. They are monitored through extensive and 

continuous creditworthiness checks and intensive receivables management. VanCamel’s positive image gives 

the company a strong position in dealings with distributors and suppliers and has a favourable impact on pay-

ment terms. binding orders placed by distributors at VanCamel’s half-yearly fashion shows result in an initial 

downpayment of 30% of the value of the order. At the same time, an order is transmitted to the manufacturers, 
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together with a corresponding payment. This business model minimizes stock-keeping and reduces the com-

pany’s working capital requirements. moreover, since outstanding payments are monitored very closely, Van-

Camel can strengthen its profitability without investing significant amounts in inventories. nevertheless, it 

cannot be ruled out that business partners could face unexpected liquidity problems or go bankrupt. This could 

have a negative retrospective impact on VanCamel’s business, resulting in failure to meet the forecast revenue 

and earnings targets.

To mitigate this risk, credit limits and credit terms are set annually by the sales department for each distributor 

on the basis of background checks, a credit assessment and payment history. In addition, a monthly sales 

summary is generated by the Finance department for each distributor. Sales orders and transactions cannot 

be processed beyond the credit limit or for customers with long outstanding debts, without special approval.

Legal risks

The PRC is still in the midst of a development phase, which includes development of the legal system. Despite 

significant progress, there is still no comprehensive legal system, interpretation of laws is subject to constant 

change and the implementation of legal provisions is often uncertain as there is no point of reference based on 

ongoing legal judgements. Since VanCamel’s business is dependent on certain licences and permits and the 

company is therefore subject to oversight by the relevant authorities, changes in the existing legal system and 

pending legal judgements could have a major influence on its business activities. 

Furthermore, legal risks mainly relate to company law, commercial and brand law, product liability law and 

capital market law. moreover, the relevant laws and interpretations are subject to change. Infringement of legal 

provisions as a result of ignorance or negligence could have a substantial impact on the company’s business. 

Even a positive judgement of VanCamel’s legal position could result in high expenses and cause lasting dam-

age to its image. That could cause it to fall short of the revenue and earnings targets set out in the “Outlook” 

section.

To minimize these risks, VanCamel uses external experts and service-providers. 

Insurance risks

In the PRC it is not customary to take out an extensive insurance protection for businesses as in more devel-

oped economies. Therefore, VanCamel PRC has not taken out any insurance covering risks to its business 

premises since it does not own any property and usually stores inventory in its leased warehouses only for a 

very short period of time. Thus, VanCamel also does not have any insurance against business disruption, 

product liability or fire, burglary and theft at its warehouses or general damage to the stock in its warehouses. 

Accordingly, if any of these risk factors were to materialize, this could result in significant costs for the com-

pany, which would be detrimental to the business and could prevent it meeting the revenue and earnings tar-

gets set out in the “Outlook” section. 

VanCamel has various insurance policies to cover liability and serious damage to assets. However, these 

policies do not necessarily cover all possible claims and types of damage. moreover, there could be further 

risks for which no direct insurance cover has been obtained.
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6.6 Opportunities and success factors

As a menswear producer, VanCamel operates in a highly competitive market with a rising number of local and 

international brands and suppliers. The company is positioned as a trend-setter for the fast-changing fashion 

needs of young Chinese men. Since the production of its apparel and shoes is fully outsourced to local contract 

manufacturers, the company can concentrate entirely on product design and brand development. Its success-

ful positioning as a fashion label for successful men paves the way for the future development of the company. 

VanCamel’s management is convinced that the company can benefit from rising prosperity and the increasing 

purchasing power of male consumers in China, enabling it continue to grow the business. In particular, it iden-

tifies the following opportunities and success factors:

Market potential

China has developed into one of the largest menswear consumer markets in the world. In 2012, the Chinese 

menswear market was Rmb 549.7 billion (approx. EUR 67.8 billion), which was roughly 40% of the total gar-

ment market.11 between 2007 and 2012, the compound annual growth rate was approx. 16.59%, far higher than 

growth in the garment industry.11 Rapid growth is driven by the general economic development and rising dis-

posable income, and by increasing market acceptance of brands. 

A further breakthrough in the menswear market in China is expected in the next few years. Successful fashion 

labels could greatly extend their influence, especially in the casual wear market. Rising demand for fashionable 

menswear has a direct influence on demand for VanCamel's products and could therefore benefit the compa-

ny's business, enabling it to exceed the revenue and earnings targets set out in the “Outlook” section.

Growing propensity to consume

The sustained growth in the Chinese economy and the rising prosperity of the country's inhabitants mean that 

end-consumers will spend more on leisure activities, sport, entertainment and high-quality clothing and shoes. 

moreover, supporting the domestic economy is one of the explicit political goals of China's central government 

in a bid to reduce export dependency, and has its full backing. Consumption-based purchasing habits will 

presumably have a direct influence on demand for VanCamel's products and could therefore benefit the com-

pany's business, enabling it to exceed the revenue and earnings targets set out in the "Outlook” section.

Positive brand image

Chinese consumers’ rising demand for brand-name apparel is a clear trend and one that will probably difficult 

to reverse once people are accustomed to high-quality fashionable and individual labels. Extending the reach 

of brands is therefore increasingly becoming a critical competitive factor. VanCamel differentiated itself from 

competitors very early by adopting a distinct market positioning to attract its target customers. Through its 

partnership with the national basketball Association (nbA) from 2006 to 2008, it managed to build a high de-

gree of brand awareness at a very early stage and thus strengthened its competitive position in the PRC. 

Priced well below international luxury brands, VanCamel developed a coherent and well-protected domestic 

brand throughout China. 

Rising brand awareness will therefore probably have a direct influence on demand for VanCamel's products 

and could therefore benefit the company's business, enabling it to exceed the revenue and earnings targets 

set out in the “Outlook” section.

11 market Research Report by marketing Research Inc., April 2013
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Innovation capacity

At the heart of the VanCamel brand image is the high fashion status of its clothing and footwear. The company 

believes it can create a unique style as a trend-setter for the rapidly changing fashion demands of young men 

in China. To continue to set trends and create new products, styles and designs aligned to its brand philosophy, 

VanCamel uses experienced specialists from leading global design centres. The company has constantly 

proven that it its multinational design team is capable of creating a unique style. Supported by growing ur-

banisation and the steady rise in purchasing power, VanCamel's management is convinced that its products 

can continue to set trends in the future. The rising demand for trendy new designs and the increasing value 

attached by consumers to purchasing fashionable clothing, especially in VanCamel’s target group – high-

earning males aged between 25 and 40 – will therefore probably have a direct impact on demand for the 

group’s products and could therefore benefit VanCamel's business, enabling it to exceed the revenue and 

earnings forecasts set out in the “Outlook” section.

Location advantage

Fujian Province is one of the largest and most important centres of the Chinese apparel industry, which in-

cludes many upstream and downstream industries. There is a high density of experienced specialists in the 

various fields, which facilitates access to the necessary expertise. A similar situation applies for the procure-

ment of starting products. That reduces operating costs and benefits production efficiency at the companies in 

this area. moreover, this competitive environment stimulates the development of the apparel manufacturers in 

the region. In the development of its products, VanCamel therefore benefits from regular interchange with 

competitors, industry associations and other sector experts. VanCamel’s management is convinced that the 

resources to which it has access due to its location in Fujian Province benefit production costs, product devel-

opment and market penetration and are therefore favourable for its business development. It therefore believes 

that this situation could help it exceed its forecast revenue and earning targets. 

Efficient distribution network

VanCamel’s positive image gives it a strong position with regard to distributors and suppliers. The company 

always pays great attention to the quality of its distribution network and selects distributors carefully using a 

stringent selection procedure. As its distributors are bound to sell only VanCamel products, they fully support 

VanCamel’s business success. To assist quality distributors and ensure efficient management, VanCamel has 

adopted a "Key Distributors" policy: in general only one key distributor is selected to manage distribution in a 

particular area or province. Additionally, VanCamel has implemented an information management system and 

a customer service division to monitor market information in order to provide authorized retail outlets with up-

to-date market information. This policy convinces distributors of the benefits of promoting VanCamel’s brand 

and products efficiently and enables the company to address market demands in a timely manner. As well as 

helping to market the company’s products efficiently, this should raise VanCamel’s revenues and minimize in-

ventory periods. It is therefore favourable for the development of its business, which could help it exceed the 

revenue and earnings targets set out in the “Outlook” section.
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because there is no control agreement with the majority shareholder, the management board of VanCamel AG 

is required under section 312 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) to file a report on relationships with 

affiliated companies. This report contains information on the relationships with the majority shareholder Xiam-

ing Ke and the companies in the VanCamel Group. 

Pursuant to section 312, para.3 AktG, the management board declares: 

“The management board of the Company stated that in fiscal 2012 were no reportable events in relation to the 

controlling company or an affiliated company.”

“For all legal transactions and the measures disclosed in the dependency report on the period from 1 January 

2013 to 31 December 2013, in the circumstances known to the members of the management board at the time 

these legal transactions or measures were concluded or omitted, VanCamel received an adequate considera-

tion. Taken or untaken measures according to section 313 AktG did not exist.”

7. DEPEnDEnT COmPAny REPORT (RELATED-
PARTy TRAnSACTIOnS)
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no events that could have a significant impact on the earnings, assets and financial position of VanCamel AG 

have occurred since the reporting date.

8. EVEnTS AFTER THE REPORTInG PERIOD
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9.1 market development and sector trends

VanCamel’s products target the men’s casual wear sector in the PRC. The company’s strategic focus is on 

developing high-quality, fashionable clothing and shoes and constantly extending brand awareness. The man-

agement is convinced that the development of the Chinese apparel market as a whole is driven by the country’s 

economic growth, rising disposable incomes in China, progressive urbanisation and changing consumer 

spending patterns resulting from the rising number of affluent urban consumers in the PRC. This development 

is supported by the 12th Five year Plan adopted by the government in march 2011, which prioritises domestic 

consumption. Further support comes from the economic reforms adopted in november 2013. A detailed de-

scription of the markets of relevance to VanCamel and their expected development can be found in section 2.1 

of this management report.

Although the Chinese menswear market has grown strongly in recent years, for many years price and utility 

with the overriding purchasing criteria for Chinese consumers. In the view of VanCamel’s management, that is 

currently changing. Chinese consumers are becoming increasing quality-conscious and place greater value on 

fashion trends and brand awareness in their purchasing decisions. Fashion labels that meet customers’ inter-

est in greater individuality are benefiting from this. The influence of Chinese fashion labels is expected to in-

crease in the period up to 2020, especially in the men’s casual wear sector. Studies forecast that this sub-

segment will post an average annual growth rate of 17.8% in the coming years, with market volume increasing 

to Rmb 216.3 billion (approx. EUR 26.4 billion) by 2016, accompanied by an increase in the proportion of men’s 

casual wear.12

That said, the management assessment is that the fashion market is still at any early stage of development. 

Unlike the mass market, which is dominated by domestic brands, there are no dominant domestic fashion la-

bels in this segment. Instead, the market for high-quality menswear is led by foreign competitors. Since the 

fashion market in developed countries has completed the development phase and the market is saturated, 

many European and US brands are endeavouring to positioning themselves on the Chinese market through 

their financial clout and expertise in product development, design and marketing in order to gain the largest 

possible slice of the market for high-quality casual wear.12 While well-known manufacturers like Zara, Uniqlo 

and burberry are already established, other foreign brands such as WE Fashion, Hollister and Cross Company 

are currently trying to gain a foothold in China. However, VanCamel’s management board is of the opinion that 

Chinese consumers prefer Chinese brands if they are perceived to offer the same value and quality as interna-

tional brands.

The Chinese fashion industry is facing mounting competition from South-East Asian states such as Vietnam 

and Indonesia, where wage costs are low.132In particular, manufacturers focusing principally on exports are 

suffering from the appreciation of the Chinese renminbi, rising raw material and wage costs, the credit squeeze 

by banks and declining exports because they are not able to pass on rising costs to trading companies and the 

international market. by contrast, companies like VanCamel that serve the domestic market are benefiting from 

the steadily rising living standards in China. Rising consumer spending and more generous spending on lei-

sure are good for domestic consumption. Thus, nominal retail revenues from the sale of consumer goods rose 

13.1% year-on-year in 2013 to a new all-time high.143

12 market Research Report by Respect marketing Research Inc., April 2013
13 IbISWorld, “Apparel manufacturing in China”, market Research Report 2013
14 national bureau of Statistics of China, February 2014

9. OUTLOOK
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However, to meet this rising demand, manufacturers need to raise inventories, which could dampen their prof-

itability in the short term. moreover, rationalisation of distribution channels and raising productivity per busi-

ness unit are becoming more important.12 However, these constraints are not entirely applicable for VanCamel 

because of its specific business model. nevertheless, even for VanCamel, marketing is becoming more and 

more important in this market environment in order to broaden its market position and gain new customers. In 

particular, sponsorship of events, digital marketing and the opening of flagship stores help raise awareness of 

the brand. Owing to the fact that it differentiated itself from competitors early on through a clear brand strategy, 

this gives the company scope to raise its market share. 

In view of this market trend, VanCamel's management board anticipates that demand will rise, but also expects 

to see rising competitive pressure, which could affect market prices.

9.2 Earnings, net assets and financial position and outlook

In fiscal 2013 VanCamel continued to invest in extending brand awareness. To this end it increased its market-

ing spend from 2.3% to 2.5% of revenue. The principal measures included print and TV ads geared to the 

target group. Overall, its distributors opened 113 new authorized retail outlets in 2013. The number of author-

ized retail outlets operated by distributors therefore increased to 2,314 spread across 26 provinces in China. 

VanCamel aims to continue this trend in 2014. In collaboration with distributors, the aim is to open about 120 

new shops in various locations. building on the successful nationwide introduction of the VanCamel brand, the 

management board is convinced that increasing store density represents a realistic and sustained goal for the 

development of the company. To accompany this, spending on marketing is to be raised to 2.8% of revenue to 

raise visibility of the brand among consumers still further. The marketing strategy focuses on opening more 

flagship stores and advertising aimed at the target group, using billboards, printed media and the internet. In 

addition, VanCamel is continuing to invest in its in-house design and development team and is currently explor-

ing the possibility of collaboration with fashion and design schools and universities to gain constant access to 

new talent and ideas in the fashion sector. Overall, the management has not budgeted any investment into 

property plant and equipment in 2014.

Assuming that China’s domestic market continues to grow, the target group’s fashion affinity increases further, 

and the number of authorized retail outlets increases as planned, the company expects volume sales to in-

crease steadily in the coming years. based on the present order situation, the management board assumes 

that on a euro basis (excluding currency effects), the Group will grow revenue by around 4.0% in 2014. It ex-

pects revenue from apparel to rise by 4.0%, and revenue from shoes to grow by 3.0%. When comparing rev-

enue in 2013 and 2014, the sales rebates for distributors outlined in section 1.2 of this management report 

should be borne in mind. The rebates, which increased to 4.5% in Fy 2013 and 7.5% in Fy 2014, diminish 

revenue growth by the same amount in each of these two years. 

This has less impact on the operating result. Together with the plans to step up marketing, at Group level Van-

Camel is likely to report slightly lower margins. Accordingly, the management board expects the EbT margin 

to drop slightly to a sustainable level of about 21% in 2014.
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9.3 Future development of VanCamel AG

Since VanCamel AG is the holding company of the VanCamel Group and the main business operations are 

performed in the PRC, the future development of VanCamel AG depends not simply on macroeconomic devel-

opments, but also on the development of the operational entities in the PRC. Without accounting for potential 

dividend payments from affiliated companies, VanCamel AG expects to post a slightly decreased net profit in 

Fy 2014.

9.4 Overall statement of future business development

Since VanCamel’s products are targeted exclusively at the domestic market, the economic development of the 

PRC is of central importance for its business. Although annual growth in China’s GDP recently slipped to just 

below 8%, the accompanying increasing in income, ongoing urbanisation, higher productivity and the growth 

of added value are continuing. The company assumes that consumer spending will be the main growth driver 

in the future. Chinese consumers are becoming increasingly quality-conscious and fashion trends and brand 

awareness are becoming more significant for purchasing decisions. VanCamel therefore sees good prospects 

of raising its share of the market for high-quality fashionable menswear and shoes in the coming years. In view 

of its present distribution network, the expected rise in the number of authorized retail outlets, its proven 

strength in product development and its stable financial position, VanCamel believes that it is well-positioned 

to derive benefit from the developments outlined here in 2014.

Cologne, 24 April 2014

The Management Board

Xiaming Ke   Weibin Zhuang    Eng Ann Soh
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Responsibility statement 

We hereby declare that, to the best of our knowledge and in accordance with the applicable reporting princi-

ples, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position 

and profit and loss of the Group and that the management includes a fair review of the development and per-

formance of the business and the position of the Group, together with a description of the principal opportuni-

ties and risks associated with the expected development of the Group.

Cologne, 24 April 2014

The Management Board

Xiaming Ke   Weibin Zhuang    Eng Ann Soh



72 VanCamel AG – Annual Report 2013

kEUR Note 2013 2012

Revenue 4  175,426 168,313 

Cost of Sales 5 (116,499)  (108,793)

Gross Profit 58,927  59,520 

Selling and distribution expenses 6 (7,561) (6,466)

Administrative expenses 7 (2,503) (2,052)

Profit from operations  48,863 51,002 

Financial income 9  186  158 

Profit before tax  49,049 51,160 

Income tax expense 10 (15,790) (12,358)

Profit for the year  33,259  38,802 

   

Other comprehensive Income, net of income tax   

Exchange differences arising from translation (1,333) (376)

   

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 31,926 38,426 
 

CONSOlIdATEd FINANCIAl STATEmENTS

of the VanCamel AG for the financial year 2013

CONSOlIdATEd STATEmENT OF PROFIT ANd lOSS 
ANd OThER COmPREhENSIVE INCOmE

for the financial year 2013
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Earnings per share 

kEUR Note 2013 2012

Earnings per share 21   

Basic  2.22  2.60 

diluted  2.22  2.60 

The figures for 2012 concern the Consolidated Statements of VAN CAmEl INT’l GROUP (hK) Co. limited and 

are presented for purposes of comparison.

Other comprehensive income comprises only items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss.

Profit for the year and total comprehensive income are fully attributable to the owners of the company.
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As at december 31, 2013

kEUR Note 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Property, plant and equipment 11 27 31

Other Intangible Assets 12 102 207

deferred tax assets 10 495 1,085

Total non-current assets  624 1,323

  

Inventories 13 403 556

Trade receivables 14 33,415 30,734

Other current financial assets 15 59 7,413

Other current assets 16 5.094 5,090

Cash and cash equivalents 17 66,200 46,578

Total current assets  105,171 90,371

  

Total assets  105,795 91,694

Share capital 18 15,000 -*

Capital reserve 18 (10,300) -

legal reserve 18 247 -

Chinese legal reserve 18 7,740 6,165

Retained earnings 18 64,439 54,290

Translation reserve 18 4,453 5,786

Total equity  81,579 66,241

Trade payables 19 4,312 5,902

Other current financial liabilities 20 2,965 7,534 

Other current liabilities 20 10,089 7,542 

Current tax liabilities 10 6,850 4,475

Total current liabilities  24.216 25,453

  

Total equity and liabilities  105,795 91,694

The figures for 2012 concern the Consolidated Statements of VAN CAmEl INT’l GROUP (hK) Co. limited and are presented for 
purposes of comparison.
 
*Concerning the adjustment of the share capital of the previous year, please refer to the additional explanations in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and to Note 18. 

CONSOlIdATEd FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  
OF FINANCIAl POSITION
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For the financial year 2013

kEUR Note
Year ended  

31 december 2013
Year ended  

31 december 2012

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation 49,049 51,160

Adjustments for:

Finance income 9 (186) (157)

depreciation 11 4 6

Amortization of intangible assets 12 104 105

Operating profit before working capital changes 48,971 51,114

decrease/(increase) in inventories 149 (397)

Increase in trade and other receivables (3,346) (3,328)

(decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables (1,049) 1,633

Cash generated from operations 44,725 49,022

Finance income received 186 157

Income tax paid 10 (10,299) (7,801)

Net cash generated from operating activities 34,612 41,378

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 11 (1) (10)

Net cash used in investing activities (1) (10)

Cash flows from financing activities

dividends paid (16,624) (11,681)

(decrease)/increase in amount due from related parties 2,688 (842)

Net cash used in financing activities (13,936) (12,523)

Net increase cash and cash equivalents 20,675 28,845

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 

financial year 46,638* 18,154

Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to first-time 
consolidation 60* 0*

Effects of currency translation (1,113) (421)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 17 66,200 46,578*

The figures for 2012 concern the Consolidated Statements of VAN CAmEl INT’l GROUP (hK) Co. limited and are presented for 
purposes of comparison.

*Because of the analogous application of the principles of the reverse acquisition the comparative period does not include the cash 
and cash equivalents of VanCamel AG as of 31 december, 2012. The cash and cash equivalents are recognized at the first-time 
consolidation. For more information, please refer to Note 2.2.

CONSOlIdATEd FINANCIAl STATEmENTS  
OF CASh FlOwS
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TEUR Note Share Capital Capital Reserve Statutory Reserve PRC Statutory Reserve Retained Earnings Translation Reserve Total Equity

Balance at 1 January 2012*  0 0 0 4,693 33,559 6,162 44,414

Total comprehensive income  0 0 0 0 38,802 (376) 38,426

Transfer to PRC statutory reserve 18 0 0 0 1,472 (1,472) 0 0

dividends  0 0 0 0 (16,599) 0 (16,599)

Balance at 31 december 2012*  0 0 0 6,165 54,290 5,786 66,241

Total comprehensive income  0 0 0 0 33,259 (1,333) 31,926

Issuance of new shares 50 0 0 0 0 0 50

loss carried forward of VanCamel AG  0 0 0 0 (14) 0 (14)

Arising from restructuring exercise 18 14,950 (10,300) 0 0 (4,650) 0 0

Transfer to statutory reserve 0 0 247 0 (247) 0 0

Transfer to PRC statutory reserve 18 0 0 0 1,575 (1,575) 0 0

dividends  0 0 0 0 (16,624) 0 (16,624)

Balance at 31 december 2013  15,000 (10,300) 247 7,740 64,439 4,453 81,579

*Concerning the adjustment of the share capital in financial year 2012, please refer to the additional information in Note 18.

For the year ended december 31, 2013

 
 

 

CONSOlIdATEd FINANCIAl STATEmENTS OF  
ChANGES IN EqUITY
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TEUR Note Share Capital Capital Reserve Statutory Reserve PRC Statutory Reserve Retained Earnings Translation Reserve Total Equity

Balance at 1 January 2012*  0 0 0 4,693 33,559 6,162 44,414

Total comprehensive income  0 0 0 0 38,802 (376) 38,426

Transfer to PRC statutory reserve 18 0 0 0 1,472 (1,472) 0 0

dividends  0 0 0 0 (16,599) 0 (16,599)

Balance at 31 december 2012*  0 0 0 6,165 54,290 5,786 66,241

Total comprehensive income  0 0 0 0 33,259 (1,333) 31,926

Issuance of new shares 50 0 0 0 0 0 50

loss carried forward of VanCamel AG  0 0 0 0 (14) 0 (14)

Arising from restructuring exercise 18 14,950 (10,300) 0 0 (4,650) 0 0

Transfer to statutory reserve 0 0 247 0 (247) 0 0

Transfer to PRC statutory reserve 18 0 0 0 1,575 (1,575) 0 0

dividends  0 0 0 0 (16,624) 0 (16,624)

Balance at 31 december 2013  15,000 (10,300) 247 7,740 64,439 4,453 81,579

*Concerning the adjustment of the share capital in financial year 2012, please refer to the additional information in Note 18.
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1. GENERAl INFORmATION

1.1 The Company

VanCamel AG (the “Company”) is the parent company. The Company is a German limited liability stock corpo-

ration registered in Germany. The company’s registration number is hRB 76539 in Cologne, Germany. The 

company’s financial year is the calendar year (i.e. 1. January through 31 december).

The shares of the company have been admitted to trading on the regulated market (Prime Standard) of the 

Frankfurt Stock Exchange. October 11th 2013 was the first trading day of the 15,000,000 shares with a value 

of EUR 1 per shares. The first price was EUR 2,10 per share.

On June 18th 2013 the share capital of the Company was increased by a shareholders’ resolution through 

contribution in kind: mr Xiaming Ke and the other shareholders at the time contributed or arranged for the 

contribution of all shares in VanCamel hK against the issuance of 14,950,000 no-par value ordinary bearer 

shares each with a notional value of EUR 1.00. The share capital increase became effective on 3 July 2013 

when it was registered in the commercial register of the local court in Cologne. 

VanCamel is a Chinese fashion label engaged in the design, marketing and distribution under its own brand of 

casualwear, consisting of apparel and footwear, almost exclusively targeted on men’s casualwear products, 

with its operating subsidiary based in the People Republic of China (“PRC”). The operational business of Van-

Camel is exclusively carried out by Van Camel Cloth Co., ltd, quanzhou (“VanCamel PRC”) with its business 

address at No. 409, Shiquan Road, Shishi City, Fujian Province, PRC.

The consolidated statement of the company were approved as prepared by management board on 24 April 2014 

and presented to the supervisory board for its meeting on 24 April 2014.

The consolidated statements are prepared in Euros. Amounts are stated in thousands of Euro (kEUR) except 

where stated otherwise.

The currency of primary economic environment in which the company and its consolidated subsidiaries oper-

ate is Renminbi (“RmB”). Therefore it represents the functional currency of the company and its subsidiaries.

The figures mentioned in the consolidated financial statements were subject to rounding adjustments that were 

carried out according to established commercial standards. As a result, the figures stated in a table may not ex-

actly add up to the total values that may also be stated in the table.

dividends to be paid by the operating PRC subsidiaries generally have to be approved by Chinese government 

bodies. In addition, dividends are only payable if Chinese statutory reserves (“PRC statutory reserves”) satisfy 

the related legal requirements. For details regarding the legal requirements refer to note 18.2.

Cash transfers from China to countries outside of China require formal approval from the State Administration of 

Foreign Exchange (“SAFE”).

NOTES TO ThE CONSOlIdATEd FINANCIAl 
STATEmENTS
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1.2 The Group Structure

As of december 31, 2013 the company has direct and indirect interests in the following wholly owned subsidiaries:

 

 

 

Name of the company
Shares held by the 

company
Equity

kEUR 31 / 12 / 13
Result

kEUR 2013 Nature of investment

Van Camel 
Int’l Group (hK) Co. 
limited 
(“VanCamel hK”) 100 % 4,307 16,354 direct

Van Camel Cloth 
Co., ltd, quanzhou  
(“VanCamel PRC”).. 100 % 74,728 34,821 Indirect

VanCamel HK:

VanCamel hK is a financial holding company established under hong Kong law on 30 November 2001. It holds 

100 % of the shares of VanCamel PRC.

Upon incorporation, VanCamel hK has an authorized share capital of hKd 10,000.00 (approx. EUR 980) divided 

into 10,000 shares of hKd 1.00 (approx. EUR 0.098) each, out of which 1 share was issued to mr. KE Xiaming and 

mr. KE Xianrong respectively as the initial shareholders of VanCamel hK. On 18 September 2008, mr. KE Xian-

rong transferred one share to mr. KE Xiaming. On 5 march 2009, VanCamel hK increased its authorized share 

capital to hKd 5,500,000 (approx. EUR 540,000) and issued 5,035,477 shares to mr. KE Xiaming. On 25 Octo-

ber 2010, VanCamel hK further increased its authorized share capital to hKd 50,000,000 (approx. EUR 4,900,000) 

and issued 44,964,521 shares to hanway Group limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with 

limited liability. On 19 November 2010, mr. KE Xiaming transferred 5,035,479 shares to Fashion International hold-

ings limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, at par value. 

The current authorized capital of VanCamel hK is hKd 50,000,000.00 (approx. EUR 4,900,000) divided into 

50,000,000 shares of hKd 1.00 (approx. EUR 0.098) each out of which 50,000,000 Shares have been duly and 

validly issued as fully paid.

On 28 June 2013, hanway Group limited and Fashion International holdings limited transferred all their shares 

(i. e. 44,964,521 and 5,035,479 shares respectively) in VanCamel hK to the Company against allotment of 

13,444,392 shares of EUR 1.00 each in the share capital of the Company to the Existing Shareholders in propor-

tion to their stakes in the share capital of the Company and allotment of 1,505,608 shares of EUR 1.00 each in the 

share capital of the Company to the Existing Shareholders in proportion to their stakes in the share capital of the 

Company respectively.

The sole director of VanCamel hK is mr. KE Xiaming (initially appointed on 30 November 2001). 

VanCamel PRC:

VanCamel PRC was established under the law of the People's Republic of China on 28 may 2003. The registered 

capital of hKd 5,000,000 (approx. EUR 490,000) has been fully paid in, the last portion as of 18 November 2005. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POlICIES

2.1 Statement of Compliance

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union (“EU IFRS”), as well as with the regulations under the commercial 

law set forth in section 315a (I) of the German Commercial Code (handelsgesetzbuch – hGB). The Group has 

adopted all EU IFRS that were effectively on or before 1 January 2013. The financial statements have been 

prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. 

The company has adopted IFRS for the first time and has not prepared consolidated financial statements be-

fore either under IFRS nor under local GAAP. The Company is a first-time adopter in accordance with IFRS 1 

and has applied all standards and interpretations that were mandatory at 31 december 2013. Reconciliation 

according to IFRS 1.24 is not applicable, because there were no consolidated financial statements of the re-

porting unit according to international or local accounting standards. 

The following new or revised IFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have been prom-

ulgated by the EU, but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group:

 
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements(1) 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements(1)

IFRS 12 disclosures of Interests in Other Entities(1)

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements(1) 

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures(1)

(1)Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

IIFRS 12, ‘disclosures of interests in other entities’ includes the disclosure requirements for all forms of inter-

ests in other entities, including joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and other off balance 

sheet vehicles. The Group has assessed IFRS 12’s full impact which does not expect any material impact on 

the consolidated financial statements arising from the adoption of this standard but considers that the new 

standard might affect the extent of future disclosure in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. The 

Group intends to adopt IFRS 12 no later than the accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations promulgated by the EU, but not yet effective that would be 

expected to have a material impact on the Group.

The following standards and Interpretations are not yet promulgated by the EU and therefore not adopted by 

the Group:
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and subsequent amendments

Improvements to IFRS (2010 - 2012) Initial mandatory application in the EU is still unknown 

Improvements to IFRS (2011 - 2013) Initial mandatory application in the EU is still unknown 

Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits – Employee Contributions (initial mandatory  
application in the EU is still unknown)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments” and “Financial Instruments – disclosures”: 
Initial Application and Transitional Regulations (initial mandatory 
application in the EU is still unknown) 

IFRIC 21 levies (initial mandatory application in the EU is still unknown)

IFRS 14
Regulatory deferral accounts (initial mandatory application in the EU 
is still unknown) 

 

IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets 

and financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and October 2010. It replaces the parts of IAS 39 

that relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 requires financial assets to 

be classified into two measurement categories: those measured as at fair value and those measured at amor-

tised cost. The determination is made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s business 

model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. 

For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases 

where the fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own 

credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the income statement, unless this creates an 

accounting mismatch. The potential impact on VanCamel Group is currently being analysed.

Except for IFRS 9 there are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be 

expected to have a material impact on the Group.

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial statements are 

summarized below. The consolidated financial statements of Ultrasonic have been prepared in accordance 

with the International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as adopted by the European Union (EU) and 

under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. 

Assets and liabilities that are included in the balance sheet, are distinguished between short and long term, 

and are described in detail in the notes to the financial statements. The consolidated profit and loss statement 

is prepared using the cost of sales method. Profits are compared with the costs incurred for their realization. 

The costs are allocated to the functional areas: production, sales and administration.

2.2 Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the companies and its entities 

controlled by VanCamel and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the company has the power over the 

investee, is exposed, or has the rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and has the 

ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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The company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 

are changes to one or more of the elements listed above. when the company has less than a majority of the 

voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the 

practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. 

The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s vot-

ing rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including: the size of the Company’s holding of voting 

rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders; potential voting rights held by the 

Company, other vote holders or other parties; rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and any ad-

ditional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to 

direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous 

shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 

the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 

disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehen-

sive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the 

subsidiary. 

Profit and loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Com-

pany and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the own-

ers of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests 

having a deficit balance. 

when necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 

policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 

members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Company owners’ ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 

accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carry amounts of the controlling and non-

controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any differ-

ence between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the considera-

tion paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the parent.

VanCamel AG has been incorporated in September 2012.

In September 2013 VanCamel AG acquired 100 % of the shares in VanCamel hK by a contribution in kind. due 

to the facts, that the structure of the shareholding of the group did not change by the transaction and the share-

holders kept the same relative percentage of ownership of the group companies before and after the transac-

tion, the transaction is considered to be a transaction under common control within the meaning of IFRS 3.B1, 

for which IFRS 3 is not applicable. The accounting as a reverse acquisition in terms of IFRS 3.B19 is also not 

applicable, because the presence of a business in the VanCamel AG prior to the transaction would have been 

a precondition. Such business did not exist.

The contribution of shares of the Vancamel hK into the VanCamel AG has been recognized, considering the 

economic substance of the transaction analogous to a reverse acquisition (reverse acquisition).
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2.3 Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recognized at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impair-

ment losses. The cost of property, plant and equipment comprises the purchase price and any costs directly 

attributable to bringing the asset to the working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure in-

curred after property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is 

normally charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can be 

clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected 

to be obtained from the use of the property, plant and equipment, and the expenditure of the item can be meas-

ured reliably, the expenditure is capitalized as an additional cost of that asset.

Advance payments for property, plant and equipment acquired are recognized as an asset when payment for 

the property, plant and equipment has been made in advance of the final delivery of the property, plant and 

equipment.

depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to write off the cost 

of property, plant and equipment, less any estimated residual values, over the following estimated useful lives:

 

Plant and machinery 5 years 

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 5 years 

motor vehicles 5 years 

Renovation 3 - 5 years

The renovation includes the renovations works performed in the distributor’s retail shops.

The estimated residual values, estimated useful lives, and depreciation method of the property, plant and equip-

ment are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance sheet date. Changes in accounting estimates 

are accounted for prospectively.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 

are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 

of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit and loss.
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2.4 Intangible Assets

2.4.1 Intangible Assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amor-

tization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis over their es-

timated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each report-

ing period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at accost less accumu-

lated impairment losses.

Costs relating to the acquisition of trademark are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over its 

tenure of 10 years

2.4.2  Internally-generated Intangible assets – research and development expenditures 

Expenditures on research activities are recognized as an expense in the period incurred. An internally-gener-

ated intangible arising from development is recognized if, and only if, all of the following have been demon-

strated: 

 ■  the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

 ■ the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

 ■ the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

 ■ how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

 ■  the availability of adequate technical, financial and the resources to complete the development and to use or 

sell the intangible asset; and

 ■ the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for an internally generated intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure in-

curred from the date when the intangible asset first met the recognition criteria listed above. where no inter-

nally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit and loss in 

the period incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, an internally generated intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis intangible assets acquired separately.

In the reporting period all expenses related to research and development costs do not fulfil the described re-

quirements and are therefore included in the income statement.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets 

to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 

indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the im-

pairment loss, if any. when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 

Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. when a 
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reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individ-

ual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for 

which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impair-

ment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the esti-

mates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating item) is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense im-

mediately.

where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 

estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. 

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit and loss.

2.5 derecognition of Intangible Assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use 

or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference 

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognized in profit and loss 

when the asset is derecognised. It is recognized in other operating income or other operating expenses.

2.6 Impairment on Non-financial Assets

Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication 

that these assets may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i. e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell 

and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows 

that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, the recoverable amount is deter-

mined for the cash-generating-unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 

amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
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The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment loss in 

the income statement, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, such impairment loss is 

treated as a revaluation decrease.

An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and if only if, there has been a change in the 

estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 

The carrying amount of this asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount provided that this amount 

does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no impairment loss have been rec-

ognised for the asset in prior years.

A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in the income statement, unless 

the asset is carried at revalued amount. 

Until now, the revaluation method has not been used.

2.7 Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when 

a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or 

financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the finan-

cial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

2.7.1 Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through 

profit and loss’ (FVTPl), ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans 

and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is deter-

mined at the time of initial recognition. 

At the end of the reporting period the Group holds solely financial assets classified as loans and receivables.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of financial assets and of allocating 

interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 

interest rate, trans-action costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial as-

set, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Loans and receivables (including cash and bank balances)

loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market. loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables, amount due from a 

director) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 

Except short-term receivables, where the effect of discounting would be marginal, interest income is recog-

nized using the effective interest method.

Impairments of financial assets

Financial assets, except for those, which are recognised at fair value through profit and loss, are assessed for 

indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objec-

tive evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial 

assets, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

For loans and receivables, objective evidence of impairment could include:

 ■ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counter-party; or

 ■ default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or 

 ■ it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation; or

 ■ that the active market for this financial asset disappears because of financial problems.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade and other receivables, assets that are assessed not to 

be impaired individually are assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment 

for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in 

the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable changes 

in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is recognised in profit and loss when there 

is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carry-

ing amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original 

effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with 

exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allow-

ance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit and loss. 

when a trade or other receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes 

in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit and loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 

decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recog-

nised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit and loss to the extent that the car-

rying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost 

would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash accounts and short-term cash deposits at banks.
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2.7.2 Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified according to the substance 

of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deduct-

ing all of its liabilities. 

Financial liabilities are recognized when a group entity becomes party to the contractual provision of the finan-

cial instrument. Financial liabilities are categorised as either financial liabilities measured at fair value through 

profit and loss or other financial liabilities.

The Groups financial liabilities are solely belonging to the category “other financial liabilities”.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the finan-

cial instrument. Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus in the case of financial liabilities 

other than derivatives, directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial li-

abilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. All interest related charges are 

recognised as an expense in the income statement.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of financial liabilities and of allocat-

ing interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts esti-

mated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the 

effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the fi-

nancial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation for the liabilities is discharged or cancelled or ex-

pired. For financial liabilities other than derivatives, gains and losses are recognised in the income statement 

when the liabilities are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other financial payables.

2.8 Other Provisions and Contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) where, as a result 

of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of re-sources embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are not 

recognized for future operating losses. where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, 

the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 

however, this asset may not exceed the amount of the related provision. The expense relating to any provision 

is presented in income statement net of any reimbursement.
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Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the 

most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the 

present obligation. where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be re-

quired in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discount-

ed to their present values, where the time value of money is material.

In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations is consid-

ered improbable or remote, no liability is recognized. 

All provisions and contingent liabilities are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current 

best estimate.

2.9 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted 

average method. The cost of finished goods comprise raw materials, direct labour and other overheads that 

have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value is 

the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the 

estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The carrying values of inventories are disclosed under note 13.

2.10 leases

leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leasing. The Group has not 

entered into finance leases in the reporting period and in preceding periods. 

The Group as a lessee

The Group leases warehouses offices and retail shops over a period from 2 to 5 years under operating leases. 

Substantial risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased assets are retained by the lessors.

Operating lease payments are recognized on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

2.11 Recognition of Revenues and Other Income

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts 

receivable for goods sold in the course of ordinary activities, net of discounts and sales-related taxes.
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Revenue from the sale of manufactured products is recognized when the Company has transferred to custom-

ers the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods, which generally coincides with the delivery to 

and acceptance of goods by the customers; and when the Company can reliably measure the amount of rev-

enue and the cost incurred and to be incurred in respect of the transaction; and it is probable that the collect-

ability of the related receivables is reasonably assured. No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncer-

tainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods. 

2.12 Finance Income

Finance income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and 

at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash re-

ceipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

2.13 Employee Benefits – Retirement Benefits Scheme

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government, the Group participates in a local municipal gov-

ernment retirement benefits scheme (the “Scheme”), whereby the subsidiaries located in the PRC are required 

to contribute a certain percentage of the basis salaries of its employees to the Scheme to fund their retirement 

benefits. The local municipal government undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of all exist-

ing and future retired employees of the subsidiaries located in the PRC. The only obligation of the Group with 

respect to the Scheme is to pay the ongoing required contributions under the Scheme mentioned above. Con-

tributions under the Scheme are charged to the income statement as incurred. There are no provisions under 

the Scheme whereby forfeited contributions may be used to reduce future contributions. The Group has no 

legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions after its payment of the fixed contributions into the 

national pension schemes. Contributions to national pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the 

period in which the related service is performed.

The Company has no direct and indirect pension obligations which would be classified as defined benefit ob-

ligation.

2.14 Income Tax

2.14 Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred taxes are recognized in the 

profit and loss statement, unless they relate to items that are recognized either in other income or directly in 

equity.
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2.14.1 Current Tax

Current tax is payable on taxable profit, which differs from profits or loss in the financial statements. Calculation 

of current tax is based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 

of the reporting period in the respective countries in which the Group is operating.

2.14.2 deferred Tax

deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. deferred tax liabilities are generally recog-

nised for all taxable temporary differences. deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible 

temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those 

deductible temporary differences can be utilised. deferred income tax is not recognised when the deferred 

income tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 

business combination and affects neither accounting or taxable profit and loss at the time of the transaction.

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 

associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the tem-

porary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be avail-

able against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.

deferred income tax is measured: 

 ■  The tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the de-

ferred income tax liability is settled; and

 ■  based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the date of the 

balance sheet, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities.

The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 

the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 

assets to be recovered.

2.15 Foreign Currency Translation

2.15.1 Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environ-

ment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).

The Group conducts its business predominately in the PRC and hence its functional currency is the Renminbi.
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The presentation currency of the Group is EURO, being the presentation currency with respect to the ultimate 

German domiciled legal parent and holding company, and therefore the financial information has been trans-

lated from RmB to EURO and the financial information from hongkong entity has been translated first from 

hKd to the functional currency RmB and then from functional currency RmB to presentation currency EUR at 

the following rates: 

 

 

 

 

Period end rates Average rates

december 31, 2012 EUR 1 = RmB 8.2157 EUR 1 = RmB 8.1330

december 31, 2013 EUR 1 = RmB 8.3400 EUR 1 = RmB 8.1709

 

 

 

 

Period end rates Average rates

december 31, 2012 RmB 1=  hKd 1.2439 RmB 1 = hKd 1.2309

december 31, 2013 RmB 1 = hKd 1.2808 RmB 1 = hKd 1.2628

The results and financial positions in functional currency are translated into the presentation currency for the 

purpose of presentation of its ultimate legal parent as follows: 

(1)  monetary items are translated at the closing rate;

(2)  Non-monetary items are translated at the historical rate;

(3)  Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this 

average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transac-

tion dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and 

(4)  All resulting exchange differences are recognized in translation reserve, a separate component of equity.

Other comprehensive income comprises only gains and losses arising from translating the financial state-

ments of the foreign operations. The currency translations do not imply any current or deferred tax effects.

2.15.2 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are measured and recorded in the functional currency using the exchange rates 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

translated at the closing rates ruling at the respective balance sheet dates. Foreign exchange gains and losses 

resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of mone-

tary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 

currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary 

items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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2.16 Critical accounting judgments and key source of estimation uncertainty

2.16.1 Critical accounting judgments in applying accounting policies

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies described in note 2.1 through 2.15. The directors of the 

company are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 

based on historical experience and other factors that are considered relevant. Actual results may differ from 

these estimates.

2.16.2 Estimation uncertainty

The following are key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 

the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

Income taxes

The Group has exposure to income tax arising from their operations in the PRC. Significant judgement is re-

quired in determining the provision for income taxes. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues 

based on estimates. when the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were ini-

tially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax expense and deferred tax provisions in the period 

in which such determination is made.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. man-

agement determines the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment to be within 3 to 5 years. 

Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful 

lives and the residual values of these assets. Therefore, future depreciation charges could be revised. A 5 % 

difference in the expected useful lives of the property, plant and equipment would not result in a significant 

change to the Group’s net profit for the respective financial years.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. In estimating net realisable values, 

management takes into account the most reliable evidence available at the time the estimates are made. The 

Group’s core business is subject to raw material price changes and changes the customer behaviour which 

may cause selling prices to change rapidly.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies as described below, management is of the opinion 

that there are no instances of application of judgments which are expected to have a significant effect on the 

amounts recognised in the Financial Statements.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group’s management assesses the collectability of trade receivables. This estimate is based on the 

credit history of the Group’s customers and the current market condition. management assesses the collect-

ability of trade receivables at the balance sheet date and makes a provision, if any.
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3. SEGmENT REPORTING

The Group manages only one operating segment. Therefore, no information regarding separate product 

groups or different regions are reported to the Board of directors. Information about revenues from external 

customers for each product line is addressed under note 4. 

4. REVENUES

The Group’s revenues are as follows:

 

kEUR
Year ended  

31 december 2013 
Year ended  

31 december 2012 

Revenues from the sales of goods 175,426 168,313

kEUR
Year ended  

31 december 2013 
Year ended  

31 december 2012 

Product line

Apparels 122,784 118,227

Footwear 52,642 50,086

175,426 168,313

kEUR
Year ended  

31 december 2013 
Year ended  

31 december 2012 

Geographical

PRC 175,426 168,313
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5. COST OF SAlES

The Group’s cost of sales are as follows:

kEUR
Year ended  

31 december 2013 
Year ended  

31 december 2012 

Purchases from contract manufacturers 115,156 107,549

Additional Sales Tax 1,343 1,244

116,499 108,793

6. SEllING ANd dISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of the following cost components:

  

 
kEUR

Year ended  
31 december 2013 

Year ended  
31 december 2012 

Advertising expenses 3,168 2,896

Promotion expenses 1,178 928

Packing expenses 1,998 1,567

Salaries & related costs 413 355

Others 804 720

7,561 6,466

7. AdmINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses mainly consist of the following cost components:

 
kEUR

Year ended  
31 december 2013 

Year ended  
31 december 2012 

Salaries & related costs 1,325 1,096

R&d expenses 486 457

Travelling & Entertainment 63 107

Amortisation 104 105

Others 525 287

2,503 2,052
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8. PERSONNEl EXPENSES

kEUR
Year ended  

31 december 2013 
Year ended  

31 december 2012 

Salaries 1,583 1,318

Social Security Contribution 155 133

1,738 1,451

The annual average number of full time employees is as follows:

 

 
kEUR

Year ended  
31 december 2013 

Year ended  
31 december 2012 

Office of the General manager 14 11

Administrative department 28 28

marketing department 16 14

Financial department 17 17

Sales department 26 27

Enterprise Planning department 11 8

Production department 29 31

development department 44 44

logistics department 19 17

Total 204 197

 

At the end of the year a total of 208 individuals were employed (previous year: 199) on a full time basis. 

9. INTEREST INCOmE

Interest income results from bank deposits with an average weighted interest rate of 0.28 % (FY 2012: 0.34 %). 
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10. INCOmE TAXES

10.1 Income Tax Recognized in the Profit and loss Statement 

kEUR 
Year ended  

31 december 2013 
Year ended  

31 december 2012 

Current income taxes

PRC 12,790 10,531

Total current income taxes 12,790 10,531

deferred taxes

PRC 586 (23)

Total deferred tax expenses / (Income) 586 (23)

withholding taxes on dividends paid in the current year and  
payable in future periods 2,414 1,850

Total withholding tax expenses 2,414 1,850

Total tax expense 15,790 12,358

The following tax rates are applicable to the group depending on the jurisdiction:

 
kEUR

Year ended  
31 december 2013 

Year ended  
31 december 2012 

Germany 31.2 % 31.2 %

PRC 25.0 % 25.0 %

hongkong 16.5 % 16.5 %

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as:

 

kEUR
Year ended  

31 december 2013 
Year ended  

31 december 2012 

Profit before taxation 49,049 51,160 

Tax calculated at the tax rate of 25 % 12,262 12,790 

Tax exemption (2011 & 2012:50 %)  -  (3,003)

Tax effect on non-deductible expenses 2,392 721 

Effect from withholding tax 1,132 1,850 

Effect of different tax rates in other jurisdictions 4  - 

15,790 12,358 
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The Chinese subsidiary tax rate is 25 % is the most appropriate tax rate for the tax reconciliation, because the 

activities in other tax jurisdictions (Germany, hongkong) are not significant to the group. The group's effective 

tax rate in 2013 is 32.2 % (2012: 24.2 %).

10.2 Current Tax liabilities

The movement of the income tax payable is as follows:

kEUR
Year ended  

31 december 2013 
Year ended  

31 december 2012 

Beginning balance January 1 4,475 1,785

Current year tax expenses 12,790 10,531

Income taxes paid (10,299) (7,801)

Translation adjustment (116) (40)

Ending balance december 31 6,850 4,475

10.3 deferred Tax Balances

Temporary differences arising from undistributed profits from subsidiaries in respect of distributions in the 

amount of kEUR 60,179 in 2013 (kEUR 51,288 in 2012) have not been recognized as deferred tax liabilities. 

dividends from China to hongkong are subject to the restrictions described in note 1.1.

Temporary differences between net assets of the subsidiary and the corresponding tax carrying amounts in 

the amount of kEUR 72,328 (kEUR 62,891 in 2012) were also not considered as a deferred tax liability, as the 

group may determine the time of realization itself.

deferred tax (liabilities) / assets in relation to:

 

 

 

Year ended 31 december

kEUR
Opening 
balance

Recognized 
in Profit and 

loss

Recognized  
in other 

comprehen-
sive income

Recognized 
directly in 

equity

Reclassified 
from equity into 

profit and loss
Closing  
balance

deferred tax assets 1,085 (586) - - (4) 495

1,085 (586) - - (4) 495
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11. PROPERTY, PlANT ANd EqUIPmENT

Property, plant and equipment at their carrying amount consist of:

kEUR
Plant  

Equipment
Office  

Equipment
motor  

Vehicles Renovation Total

Cost

At 1 January 2012 26 99 5 315 445

Additions - 1 9 - 10

disposal / written Off - - - - - 

Translation adjustment - (1) - (2) (3)

At 31 december 2012 26 99 14 313 452

Additions - 1 - - 1

disposal / written Off - - - - - 

Translation adjustment - (2) - - (2)

At 31 december 2013 26 98 14 308 446

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2012 17 82 4 315 418

Amortisation / depreciation 2 3 1 - 6

disposal / written Off - - - - - 

Translation adjustment - (1) - (2) (3)

At 31 december 2012 19 84 5 313 421

Amortisation / depreciation 1 1 2 - 4

disposal / written Off - - - - - 

Translation adjustment - (1) - (5) (6)

At 31 december 2013 20 84 7 308 419

Net Book Value

At 31 december 2012 7 15 9 - 31

At 31 december 2013 6 14 7 - 27

 

All property, plant and equipment are located in the PRC. 
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12.  INTANGIBlE ASSETS

Intangible assets mainly consist of the trademark rights “VanCamel”. The trademark has been acquired from 

Shishi Xinhua Straight Clothes Factory in 2004 for an assignment fee and has a useful life of 10 years accord-

ing to PRC Trademark law. The carrying value of the trademark has developed as follows:

kEUR Trademark

Cost

At 1 January 2012 1,042

Translation adjustment (7)

At 31 december 2012 1,035

Translation adjustment (16)

At 31 december 2013 1,019

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2012 729

Amortisation / depreciation 105

Translation adjustment (6)

At 31 december 2012 828

Amortisation / depreciation 104

Translation adjustment (15)

At 31 december 2013 917

Net Book Value

At 31 december 2012 207

At 31 december 2013 102

The amortization of kEUR 104 (2012: kEUR 105) has been recorded within “Administrative Expenses”. Refer 

to Note 7. 



101Consolidated financial statements

13. INVENTORIES

Inventories are allocated as follows:

 
kEUR

Year ended  
31 december 2013 

Year ended  
31 december 2012 

Finished goods 403 556

403 556

Cost of inventories is recognized as expense, as part of cost of sales. The cost of sales also includes distribu-

tion costs. In 2013 the company recognized kEUR 116,499 and in 2012 kEUR 108,793 as an expense.

Neither in 2013 nor in 2012 have any write-downs or write-ups on inventories been carried out.

14. TRAdE RECEIVABlES

 
kEUR

Year ended  
31 december 2013 

Year ended  
31 december 2012 

Trade receivables 33,415 30,734

33,415 30,734

The average credit period on sales of goods is 60 days. No interest is charged for the first 60 days from the 

date of the invoice. In general allowances for doubt full debts are determined by reference to past default ex-

perience of the counterparty and an analysis of the counterparty’s financial position.

Before accepting any new customer the sales and marketing department will prepare credit proposals based 

on an internal preliminary credit assessment. For the final acceptance of a new customer, the approval of the 

management of the group is required. 

Trade receivables aging based on invoice date are as follows:

 
kEUR 

Year ended  
31 december 2013

Year ended  
31 december 2012

Not due 33,383 30,611

0 to 30 days 32 123

more than 30 days 0 0

Total 33,415 30,734

In both reporting periods, no impairment losses on trade receivable were recorded:

The trade receivable that was neither past due nor impaired relate to customer for whom there was no recent 

history of default.
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The trade receivable that was past due but not impaired relate to customers that have a good track record with 

the Group. management believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in this balance as it is considered 

fully recoverable.

during the financial years ended 31 december 2012 and 2013, trade receivables are all denominated in Renminbi.

15. OThER CURRENT FINANCIAl ASSETS

The other current financial assets consist of:

 
kEUR

Year ended  
31 december 2013 

Year ended  
31 december 2012 

Amounts due from related parties - 7,413

Other receivables 59 -

59 7,413

Amount due from related parties was unsecured, interest-free and had no fixed terms of repayment. Amount due 

from related parties mainly relates to related company, hanway Group limited, share capital injection to Van-

Camel hK during financial year ended 31 december 2010 and to other related companies, hanway Group limited 

and Fashion International holdings limited, withholding tax payable arising from dividends paid from FY 2010 to 

FY 2012. Amount due from related parties have been fully paid as at FY 2013. 

16. OThER CURRENT ASSETS

The other current assets mainly consist of:

kEUR
Year ended  

31 december 2013 
Year ended  

31 december 2012 

Advances to suppliers 4,976 4,930

German tax recoverable 30 -

Prepayments 88 160

5,094 5,090

The amount shown is due within one year. The advances to suppliers are for the purchase of the finished 

goods.
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17. CASh ANd CASh EqUIVAlENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 

kEUR
Year ended  

31 december 2013 
Year ended  

31 december 2012 

Cash at bank 66,198 46,572

Cash on hand 2 6

66,200 46,578

Cash at banks 66,198 46,572

thereof EUR 54 - 

thereof RmB 66,144 46,572

Total 66,198 46,572

The Renminbi is not freely convertible into foreign currencies. Under the PRC Foreign Exchange Control 

Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the 

Group is permitted to exchange Renminbi for foreign currencies through banks that are authorised to conduct 

foreign exchange business. Cash transfers from China to other countries require formal approval from the 

State Administration of Foreign Exchange (“SAFE”). however, there is no restriction of cash transfers between 

hong Kong and Germany. Consequently, the Group does not have unlimited access to these funds.

The cash at bank balances bear effective interest rates of 0.2 % in 2013 and 0.34 % in 2012.

18. EqUITY

Issued and fully paid with  
no par value No. of ordinary shares kEUR

2013 2012 2013 2012

Beginning of financial year - - - - 

Issuance of shares(1) 50,000 - 50 - 

Issuance of shares(2) 14,950,000 - 14,950 - 

End of financial year 15,000,000 - 15,000 - 

(1) VanCamel AG (Previously VAN-CAmEl International AG) was founded on 24 September, 2012 with share capital compromising 
fully paid 50,000 ordinary shares amounting kEUR 50. On the basis of the purchase agreement dated 18 June 2013 mr Xiameng Ke 
purchased VanCamel AG. As discussed in Note 2.3 of the notes to the financial statements the contribution in kind was treated as a 
reverse acquisition and therefore no shared capital existed as of december 31, 2012.
(2) At the general shareholder meeting of VanCamel AG on June 18, 2013 the share capital of VanCamel AG was increased by 
kEUR 14,950 to kEUR 15,000 through the issuance of 14,950,000 new bearer shares with no par value with a notional amount of 
share capital of one Euro per share. The capital increase was performed by means of a contribution in kind in form of all shares in 
VanCamel hK to VanCamel AG. 
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18.1 Share Capital

The share capital of the parent company amounts to kEUR 15,000 and is divided into 15,000,000 no-par value 

bearer shares with a par value of one Euro per share. 

Authorised Capital

Pursuant to the resolution of the general meeting dated from 18 June 2013 till 17 June 2018, the board of man-

agement directors is authorized to increase the share capital of the company with the consent of the supervi-

sory board through issuance of up to a total of 7,500,000 new no par value shares, in either one or several 

tranches, in consideration of contributions in cash or in kind by up to EUR 7,500,000 (Authorized Capital 2013) 

and to determine a commencement of profit entitlement deviating from law. In each case ordinary shares and/

or preference shares may be issued.

Share buyback authorisation

By resolution of the Extraordinary General meeting on 12 September 2013, the management board is author-

ized to acquire own shares up to 10% of the share capital. The authorization will expire on the date on which 

the treasury stock exceeds the limit of 10% or on 11 September 2018.

The acquisition of own shares can take place via the stock exchange or by an offer to all shareholders. In FY 

2013 the company did not make use of the authorization.

18.2 Statutory Reserve in China

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of PRC, the subsidiary of the Company established in 

PRC are required to transfer 10 % of its annual statutory net profit (after offsetting any prior years’ losses) to 

the statutory reserve. when the balance of such reserve reaches 50 % of the subsidiary’s share capital, any 

further transfer of its annual statutory net profit is optional. Such reserve may be used to offset accumulated 

losses or to increase the registered capital of the subsidiary subject to the approval of the relevant authorities. 

however, except for offsetting prior years’ losses, such statutory reserve must be maintained at a minimum of 

25 % of the share capital after such usage. The statutory reserves are not available for dividend distribution to 

the shareholders.

The statutory reserve only affects the subsidiaries based in PRC.

The PRC statutory reserve of the Group amounts to kEUR 7,740 as at 31, december 2013 (2012: kEUR 6,165).

18.3 Capital Reserve

The capital reserve represents the adjustment item of the capital consolidation of kEUR 10,300 based on the 

reverse acquisition.
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18.4 Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (Other Comprehensive Income)

Foreign currency translation reserve represents the foreign currency translation difference arising from the 

translation of the financial statements of companies within the Group. 

18.5 Retained Earnings

The revenue reserve includes the cumulative annual results, which are recognized in the income statements 

of the Group, to the extent they are not included in the statutory reserve.

18.6 legal Reserve

In Accordance with § 150 paragraph. 2 AktG the Company recorded a legal reserve as of december 31, 2013:

 

 

 

kEUR 

As of 1 January 2013 0

Gain 247

As of 31 december2013 247

18.7 distributable Profits and dividends

For the payment of the dividend the financial statements of VanCamel AG is decisive, which is prepared in ac-

cordance with the German Commercial Code (hGB). It is intended to propose a dividend payment of EUR 0.31 

per share, in total kEUR 4,650, to the general meeting. The remaining net income of VanCamel AG will be 

recognized in the retained earnings.
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19. TRAdE PAYABlES

kEUR
Year ended  

31 december 2013
Year ended  

31 december 2012 

Trade payables 4,312 5,902

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 days.

Trade payables are all due within one year.

20. OThER FINANCIAl lIABIlITIES ANd OThER lIABIlITIES

Other current financial liabilities and other current liabilities consist of:

 

kEUR
Year ended  

31 december 2013
Year ended  

31 december 2012 

Other financial liabilities

Salary accrued 571 2,477

Amount due to related party 1,863 0

Accruals amount due to a director 87 0

Others 310 188

dividend payable 0 4,869

Amount due to a shareholder 134 0

2,965 7,534

Other liabilities

VAT payable 405 550

Costumer deposit 1,787 1,814

Other tax payables 51 0

SSI payables 373 0

withholding tax payables 7,473 5,178

10,089 7,542

13,054 15,076

 

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 days.

Other financial liabilities and other liabilities are all due within one year. 
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21. EARNINGS PER ShARE

Earnings per share were calculated based on the profit after tax and allocated to the shareholders of the parent 

company VanCamel AG on 31 december 2013 and 31 december 2012. The basic earnings per share and the 

diluted earnings per share are identical, because there are no dilutive equity instruments. The weighted aver-

age number of the outstanding ordinary shares in the reporting period is calculated as follows:

Based on the analogous application of IFRS 3.B19 (see note 2.2), the calculation of the weighted average 

number in the period, in which the reverse acquisition has been made, was done in accordance with IFRS 3.

B26. Consequently, the denominator in the calculation of earnings per share is calculated as the sum of:

 ■  the number of outstanding ordinary shares from the beginning of that period to the acquisition date, based 

on the weighted average number of outstanding shares of the formal-legal acquiree (the accounting acquir-

er), which are multiplied with the exchange ratio stated in the merger agreement; and

 ■  the number of outstanding ordinary shares from the acquisition date to the end of this period equal to the 

actual number of outstanding shares of the formal-legal acquirer (the accounting acquiree) in this period. 

This results in an average number of ordinary shares of 14,976,986 for the year ended 31 december 2013. 

Under analogous application of the principles of reverse acquisition, consequently the special requirements of 

IFRS 3.B27 have to be applied for the calculation of the earnings per share for the comparative period. Based 

on the exchange ratio, the average number of ordinary shares for the year ended 31 december 2012 amounts 

to 14,950,000.

2013 2012 

Earnings after tax (kEUR) 33,259 38,802

Average number of outstanding ordinary shares 14,976,986 14,950,000

Earnings per share 2.22 2.60

22. CAPITAl mANAGEmENT

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to uphold investor, creditor and market confidence 

and sustain future development of the business.

The Group seeks to maintain a sound capital position by making no significant use of debt financing. Further 

the Group aims for an approximate ratio of equity to total assets ratio of 50 %. Those information could be de-

rived directly from the financial statements as presented.

 Year ended  
31 december 2013

kEUR

Year ended  
31 december 2012

kEUR 

Equity 81,579 66,241

Total Assets 105,796 91,694

Equity to Total Asset Ratio 77 % 72 %
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23. FINANCIAl INSTRUmENTS

The financial instruments are as follows:

 kEUR december 31, 2013 december 31, 2012

Carrying 
Amount At amortized costs Fair Value

Carrying 
Amount At amortized costs Fair Value

Assets

Trade Receivables 33,416 33,416 33,416 30,734 30,734 30,734

Other current financial assets 59 59 59 7,413 7,413 7,413

Cash and cash equivalents 66,200 66,200 66,200 46,578 46,578 46,578

Total 99,675 99,675 99,675 84,725 84,725 84,725

kEUR december 31, 2013 december 31, 2012

Carrying 
Amount At amortized costs Fair Value

Carrying 
Amount At amortized costs Fair Value

liabilities

Trade payables 4,312 4,312 4,312 5,902 5,902 5,902

Other current financial liabilities 2,965 2,965 2,965 7,534 7,534 7,534

Total 7,277 7,277 7,277 13,436 13,436 13,436

 
kEUR december 31, 2013 december 31, 2012

Carrying 
Amount At amortized costs Fair Value

Carrying 
Amount At amortized costs Fair Value

loans and receivables 99.675 99.615 99.675 84.725 84.725 84.725 

Financial liabilities  
(at amortized costs) 7.277 7.277 7.277 13.436 13.436 13.436 

24. FINANCIAl RISK mANAGEmENT

The Group’s activities expose it to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk manage-

ment strategy seeks to minimize adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial markets on the Group’s 

financial performance.

The board of directors provides guidance for overall risk management as well as policies covering specific 

areas. management assesses and formulates measures to manage the Group's exposure to financial risk in 

accordance with the objectives and underlying principles approved by the board of directors. Generally, the 

Group employs a conservative strategy regarding its risk management. As the Group's exposures to market 

risk and financial risk are kept at a minimum level, the hK Group has not used any derivatives or other financial 

instruments for hedging purposes. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading 

purposes.
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24.1 market Risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates 

and interest rates. due to the limited exposure to such risks the company has not entered into a variety of de-

rivative financial instruments to manage such risks.

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates

Currency risk arises when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies other than the functional cur-

rency.

The Group mainly operates in the Chinese market and therefore has no significant exposure to changes in 

foreign currencies except payment of the dividends. however the company prepares its financial statements in 

the reporting currency EUR as such its results and net assets are exposed to a retranslation risk due to chang-

es of RmB to EUR.

If the RmB had strengthened against EUR by 10 % then this would be have had the following impact:

 kEUR Net Profit Equity

december 31, 2012 4 4 

december 31, 2013 516 516 

 

If the RmB has weakened against EUR by 10 % then this would be have had the following impact:

 kEUR Net Profit Equity

december 31, 2012 (4) (4) 

december 31, 2013 (516) (516) 

Interest rate risks

Interest rate risks arise when the Group borrows funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. The Group 

limits its exposure to such risks by being mainly self-financed. Therefore the group’s exposure to changes in 

interest rates is limited. 
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24.2 Credit Risk

Credit risk is defined as the risk that a financial instrument will cause a financial loss to the Group by failing to 

discharge an obligation according to IFRS 7 Appendix A.

For the Group the credit risk mainly arises from the Group’s trade receivables.

The Group’s exposure to credit risks is restricted by credit limits that are approved by the CEO. The Group 

typically grants the existing customer credit terms of up to 60 days. In deciding whether credit terms shall be 

extended individually, the Group will take into consideration factors such as the relationship with the customer, 

its payment history and credit worthiness. In relation to new customers, the sales and marketing department 

will prepare credit proposals for approval by the CEO.

The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient col-

lateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the financial loss from default. The Group monitors the 

exposure by its own trading records with its major customers to assess the risk.

Trade receivables consist of a large variety of authorized distributors within China.

Apart from the biggest customer, the largest customer of the Group, the Group does not have significant 

credit risk exposure to any single counterparty. Concentration of the credit risk related to biggest customer did 

not exceed 20 % of gross monetary assets at any time during the year. Concentration of any other counter-

party does not exceed 5 % to any time during the year. 

The aging structure of financial assets is as follows:

  kEUR 31. december 2013 31. december 2012

Not due 99,643 84,602

0 to 30 days 32 123

more than 30 days 0 0
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24.3 liquidity Risk

liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group will encounter difficulties in meeting its obligation associated 

with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or other financial asset. The Group’s approach to 

managing liquidity is to regularly monitor their current and expected liquidity requirements and ensure, as far 

as possible, that it will have sufficient cash reserves and available funding through credit facilities to meet its 

liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damages to the Group’s reputation.

The aging structure of its financial liabilities is as follows:

 kEUR Remaining until due

2013 Total
less than  
one year

between  
1 and 5 years

more than  
five years

Trade payables 4,312 4,312 - - 

Other current financial liabilities 2,965 2,965 - - 

Cash and cash equivalents 66,200 66,200 - - 

 kEUR Remaining until due

2012 Total
less than  
one year

between  
1 and 5 years

more than  
five years

Trade payables 5,902 5,902 - - 

Other current financial liabilities 7,534 7,534 - - 

Cash and cash equivalents 46,578 46,578 - - 

25. RElATEd PARTY dISClOSURES

IAS 24 requires the disclosure of transactions with related parties. 

A related party is a person or an entity where the VanCamel Group can exercise influence or significant influ-

ence, or which is controlled by the VanCamel Group. In particular this compromises non-consolidated sub-

sidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associated companies and other participations as well as members of 

both management board and supervisory board and other personnel considered as key management.
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Related party information:

a. Entities / Individuals with common control or significant influence over the Group or under common control 

mr Xiaming Ke CEO and major Shareholder

Jinjiang Breeding Farm haixia Fashion Factory 100 % of the shares owned by mr. Xiaming Ke

hanway Group limited Shareholder of Van Camel Int’l hK

Fashion International holdings limited Shareholder of Van Camel Int’l hK

b. Key management / directors of the Group and its subsidiaries

 
ms. lI Yarong director

mr. ZhUANG weibin director / Chief Operating Officer

mr. CAI Rongtang Research & development director

ms. ZhAO Rong General manager – Apparels

mr. YANG Zhiyuan General manager – Footwear

mr. ZhAO qinghe Production manager

mr. SOh Eng Ann Chief Financial Officer

Transactions and amounts due from / to related parties:

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been 

eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed at this point. details of transactions between the Group and 

other related parties are given below.

a.  Related party transactions 

Guarantee relating to Social Insurance and housing Fund Payments 

 

dividends distribution to related parties

b.  Details of significant and material related party transactions and balances are as follows: 

The amounts due from related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and without fixed terms of 

repayment. 

 

mr. Ke Xiaming, CEO, has provided a letter of undertaking regarding Social Insurance and housing Fund 

Payments of EUR 350,000.

The detailed information regarding the payments to the directors and the supervisory board are outlined in 

Note 27.
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26. COmmITmENTS ANd CONTINGENCIES

The hK Group leases offices, warehouses and showrooms under non-cancellable operating lease arrange-

ments. lease payments recognized as an expense of kEUR 227 in 2013 and kEUR 192 in 2012. The leases 

have varying terms ranging from 2 to 5 years and the total future minimum lease payments of the hK Group 

under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

 
kEUR 

As at  
31 december 2013

As at  
31 december 2012 

Total

Not later than one year 106 200

later than one year and not later than five years 79 96

185 296

The Company has prepaid rental expenses of kEUR 88 as at 31 december 2013 (FY 2012: kEUR 139). 

Social insurance back payments

According to the PRC laws and regulations, where a company has not made full contributions to social insur-

ance for all its employees, the administrative department or labour security or the tax authority shall order for 

the company to pay up the premiums within a prescribed time limit and if the company still fails to make pay-

ment within the time limit, a surcharge for overdue payment equal to 0.2 per cent per day of the over- due 

premiums will be imposed from the date of the expiration of the prescribed time limit in addition to the unpaid 

social insurance premiums. 

The management of the hK Group is unable to quantify the estimated amount of surcharge payable as the hK 

Group has thus far not received any order from the authority to pay for the outstanding contributions. 

without considering the penalty of 0.2 per cent per day, VanCamel hK estimates that such a claim for addi-

tional payments would not exceed kEUR 373 and has undertaken an agreement with mr. KE Xiaming accord-

ing to which he would reimburse VanCamel hK for any losses incurred for such additional social insurance and 

housing funds payments. 
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27. REmUNERATION OF ThE SUPERVISORY BOARd ANd ThE 
EXECUTIVE BOARd OF VANCAmEl AG

The members of the Supervisory Board did not receive any remuneration in the two reporting periods. The remu-

neration of the Supervisory Board members who hold office since June 10, 2013, will be decided at the Annual 

General meeting in August 2014. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board shall receive an annual fee of kEUR 

15, the deputy chairman an annual fee of kEUR 12 and each additional member an annual fee of kEUR 10. For 

this reason a liability in the amount of kEUR 21 has been recognized in the balance sheet. 

The detailed information regarding the remuneration of the executive board is as follows: 

kEUR Non Performance related compensation Performance related compensation

Fixed Salary

Non monetary 
compensation and 

other additional 
compensation Variable Bonus Total

Xiaming KE 2013 134 - - 134

CEO Since 2004 2012 148 - - 148

weibin Zhuang 2013 80 - - 80

COO Since 2008 2012 74 - - 74

Eng Ann Soh 2013 117 - 60 177

CFO Since 2012 2012 74 - - 74

Total 2013 331 - 60 391

2012 296 - - 296
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28. ShAREhOldINGS IN VANCAmEl AG

Up to the date of approval of the financial statements, VanCamel AG received the following notices from share-

holders in the Company pursuant to the Securities Trading Act (wphG):

On October 15, 2013, mr Xiaming Ke, People's Republic of China, has informed us according to Article 21, 

Section 1a of the wphG that his Voting Rights on VanCamel AG, hamburg, Germany, on October 10, 2013 

amounted to 73.70 % (this corresponds to 11055000 Voting Rights).

On October 15, 2013, mr. Rongtang Cai, People's Republic of China, has informed us according to Article 21, 

Section 1a of the wphG that his Voting Rights on VanCamel AG, hamburg, Germany, on October 10, 2013 

amounted to 3.50 % (this corresponds to 525000 Voting Rights).

On October 15, 2013, Xiaxin holding (Europe) Trust reg., Balzers, liechtenstein, has informed us according to 

Article 21, Section 1a of the wphG that its Voting Rights on VanCamel AG, hamburg, Germany, on October 10, 

2013 amounted to 4.99 % (this corresponds to 748500 Voting Rights).

On October 15, 2013, mr. Chi mang Cheung, hong Kong, has informed us according to Article 21, Section 1a 

of the wphG that his Voting Rights on VanCamel AG, hamburg, Germany, on October 10, 2013 amounted to 

4.99 % (this corresponds to 748500 Voting Rights). According to Article 22, Section 1, Sentence 1, No. 1 of the 

wphG, 4.99 % of the Voting Rights (this corresponds to 748500 Voting Rights) is to be attributed to mr. Cheung 

from Xiaxin holding Europe) Trust reg., Balzers, liechtenstein.

On October 15, 2013, Fu Yuen holding (Europe) Trust reg., Balzers, liechtenstein, has informed us according 

to Article 21, Section 1a of the wphG that its Voting Rights on VanCamel AG, hamburg, Germany, on Octo-

ber 10, 2013 amounted to 4.50 % (this corresponds to 675000 Voting Rights). 

On October 15, 2013, ms. Shuk ling Cheung, hong Kong, has informed us according to Article 21, Section 1a 

of the wphG that her Voting Rights on VanCamel AG, hamburg, Germany, on October 10, 2013 amounted to 

4.50 % (this corresponds to 675000 Voting Rights). According to Article 22, Section 1, Sentence 1, No. 1 of the 

wphG, 4.50 % of the Voting Rights (this corresponds to 675000 Voting Rights) is to be attributed to ms. 

Cheung from Fu Yuen holding (Europe) Trust reg., Balzers, liechtenstein.

On February 19, 2014, Fu Yuen holding (Europe) Trust reg., Balzers, liechtenstein, has informed us according 

to Article 21, Section 1 of the wphG that via shares its Voting Rights on VanCamel AG, hamburg, Germany, 

have dropped below the threshold of 3 % on February 14, 2014 and on that day amounted to 2.80 % (this cor-

responds to 419,470 Voting Rights).

On February 19, 2014, ms. Shuk ling Cheung, China, has informed us according to Article 21, Section 1 of the 

wphG that via shares her Voting Rights on VanCamel AG, hamburg, Germany, have dropped below the 

threshold of 3 % on February 14, 2014 and on that day amounted to 2.80 % (this corresponds to 419,470 Voting 

Rights). According to Article 22, Section 1, Sentence 1, No. 1 of the wphG, 2.80 % of the Voting Rights (this 

corresponds to 419,470 Voting Rights) is to be attributed to ms. Cheung from Fu Yuen holding (Europe) Trust 

reg., Balzers, liechtenstein.
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On February 19, 2014, Xiaxin holding (Europe) Trust reg., Balzers, liechtenstein, has informed us according 

to Article 21, Section 1 of the wphG that via shares its Voting Rights on VanCamel AG, hamburg, Germany, 

have dropped below the threshold of 3 % on February 14, 2014 and on that day amounted to 2.32 % (this cor-

responds to 348,500 Voting Rights).

On February 19, 2014, mr. Chi mang Cheung, China, has informed us according to Article 21, Section 1 of the 

wphG that via shares his Voting Rights on VanCamel AG, hamburg, Germany, have dropped below the 

threshold of 3 % on February 14, 2014 and on that day amounted to 2.32 % (this corresponds to 348,500 Voting 

Rights). According to Article 22, Section 1, Sentence 1, No. 1 of the wphG, 2.32 % of the Voting Rights (this 

corresponds to 348,500 Voting Rights) is to be attributed to mr. Cheung from Xiaxin holding (Europe) Trust 

reg., Balzers, liechtenstein.

On February 26, 2014, Global derivative Trading Gmbh, lehrte, Germany, has informed us according to Article 

21, Section 1 of the wphG that via shares its Voting Rights on VanCamel AG, hamburg, Germany, ISIN: 

dE000A1RFmm9, wKN: A1RFmm, have exceeded the 3 % threshold of the Voting Rights on February 26, 2014 

and on that day amounted to 3.33 % (this corresponds to 500000 Voting Rights).

On February 26, 2014, mr Thorsten wagner, Germany has informed us according to Article 21, Section 1 of the 

wphG that via shares his Voting Rights on VanCamel AG, hamburg, Germany, ISIN: dE000A1RFmm9, wKN: 

A1RFmm, have exceeded the 3 % threshold of the Voting Rights on February 26, 2014 and on that day amount-

ed to 3.33 % (this corresponds to 500000 Voting Rights). According to Article 22, Section 1, Sentence 1, No. 1 

of the wphG, 3.33 % of the Voting Rights (this corresponds to 500000 Voting Rights) is to be attributed to mr 

wagner via Global derivative Trading Gmbh, lehrte, Germany.

29. dEClARATION OF COmPlIANCE wITh ThE GERmAN  
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COdE

The annual declaration of conformity with the German Corporate Governance Code according to Section 161 

of the German Stock Corporation Act was signed by the Board of directors and the Supervisory Board of Van-

Camel AG on 17 April 2014, and is published online at: www.vancamel.de.

30. AUdITOR’S FEE

The total fee for the auditor of the consolidated financial statement (warth & Klein Grant Thornton AG, Frank-

furt am main) for fiscal year 2013 is:

a) audit:  kEUR 85 (2012: kEUR 8)

b) other services: kEUR 25 (2012: kEUR 0)
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31. EVENTS AFTER ThE BAlANCE ShEET dATE

There were no significant non-adjusting events or any significant adjusting events after the reporting period. 

Cologne, 24 April 2014

management Board

VanCamel AG
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To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated fi-

nancial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit and loss of the 

group, and the group management report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the 

business and the position of the group, together with a description of the material opportunities and risks as-

sociated with the expected development of the group.

Cologne, 24 April 2014

management Board

VanCamel AG

RESPONSIBIlITY STATEmENT
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we have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by VanCamel AG, Cologne– comprising a 

consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 

statement of changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements – and the group management, which is combined with the management report of VanCamel AG 

report for the financial year from 01 January 2013 to 31 december 2013. The preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements and the combined management report in accordance with IFRS, as adopted by the EU, 

and with the additional requirements of the German commercial law pursuant to section 315a paragraph 1 

hGB are the responsibility of the parent company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 

on the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report based on our audit.

we conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with paragraph 317 hGB and 

German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 

wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (Idw). Those standards require that we plan and 

perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial 

position and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable 

financial reporting framework and in the combined management report are detected with reasonable assur-

ance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the Group and expecta-

tions as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The effec-

tiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements and the combined management report are examined primarily on a test ba-

sis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those 

entities included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting 

and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 

overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report. we be-

lieve that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Our audit has not led to any reservations. 

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements of VanCamel AG, Co-

logne, for the financial year from 01 January 2013 to 31 december 2013 comply with IFRS, as adopted by the 

EU, and the additional requirements of the German commercial law pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 hGB and give a 

true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in accordance with 

these requirements. The combined management report is consistent with the consolidated financial state-

ments and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitable presents the opportunities 

and risks of future development.“

Frankfurt am main, 24 April 2014

warth & Klein Grant Thornton AG

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Robert Binder      maximilian meyer zu Schwabedissen

German Public Auditor    German Public Auditor

AUdITOR’S OPINION
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Assets

EUR 31/12/2013 31/12/2013 31/12/2012 31/12/2012

A. Non-current assets

 I.  Financial assets

  1. Investments in affiliated companies 14,950,000.00 0.00

B. Current assets

 I.  Trade receivables and other assets

  1.  Amount due from subsidiaries 5,190,828.25 0.00

  2. Other assets 29,770.63 281.83

5,220,598.88 281.83

 II. Cash and bank balances 54,200.57 60,771.59

5,274,799.45 61,053.42

C. Prepayments and deferred income 58,701.28 0.00

20,283,500.73 61,053.42

FINANCIAl sTATEmENTs 2013

of the VanCamel AG for the financial year 2013

BAlANCE shEET

of VanCamel AG as at 31 December 2013
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liabilities

EUR 31/12/2013 31/12/2013 31/12/2012 31/12/2012

A. Equity

 I.  share capital 15,000,000.00 50,000.00

 II. Retained earnings

  1. statutory reserve 246,537.65 0.00

 III. Net profit/loss 4,684,215.34 -14,564.00

19,930,752.99 35,436.00

B. Provisions

  1.  Tax provisions 32,074.81 0.00

  2. Other provisions 166,775.59 12,900.00

198,850.40 12,900.00

C. liabilities

  1.  Trade payables 143,125.75 1,945.83

  2.  Amount due to shareholders 10,771.59 10,771.59

153,897.34 12,717.42

20,283,500.73 61,053.42
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EUR 01/01/2013 - 31/12/2013 24/09/2012 - 31/12/2012

1. Revenue 60,000.00 0.00

2. Other operating exoenses -213,436.45 -14,564.00

3. Investment income 5,130,828.25 0.00

 -  thereof from affiliated companies  
EUR 5,130,828.25 (31/12/2012: EUR 0.00)

4. Result from ordinary activities 4,977,391.80 -14,564.00

5. Income tax -32,074.81 0.00

6. Net profit/loss 4,945,316.99 -14,564.00

7. loss carried forward form previous year -14,564.00 0.00

8. Transfer to legal reserve -246,537.65 0.00

9. Accumulated profit/loss 4,684,215.34 -14,564.00

of VanCamel AG  from 1 January 2013 to 31 December, 2013

INCOmE sTATEmENT 
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AktG German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz)

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer

China / PRC People’s Republic of China (excluding 
Hong Kong and Macau)

Code German Corporate Governance Code

The company VanCamel AG

COO Chief Operational Officer

Designated sponsor Designated sponsors secure 
higher liquidity by quoting binding prices for buying 
and selling the shares 

EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Deprecia-
tion and Amortization

EStG German Income Tax Law (Einkommenssteu-
ergesetz)

EU European Union

EUR Euro, the official currency of the Eurozone and 
the EU institutions

FY Financial Year

German GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles in Germany

Group The Group and together with its direct and 
indirect subsidiaries

HKD Hong Kong Dollar, the currency of Hong Kong

IAS International Accounting Standards

IFRIC International Financial Reporting Interpreta-
tions Committee

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 
and International Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as endorsed for application in the EU

IMF International Monetary Fund

ADDITIOnAL InFORMATIOn

GLOSSARY
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IPO Initial Public Offering

ISIN International Securities Identification number

ISO International Organisation for Standardisation

kEUR/KEUR Thousand EUR

Lead Manager BankM – representative office of 
biw Bank für Investments und Wertpapiere AG, 
Frankfurt am Main, Germany

OEM Original Equipment Manufacturer

PRC GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles in the PRC

R&D Research and Development

RMB Renminbi, the currency of the PRC

SAFE The PRC State Administration of Foreign 
Exchange

USD United States of America Dollar, the currency 
of the US

VanCamel VanCamel AG together with its direct 
and indirect subsidiaries

VAT Value Added Tax

WKN national securities identification number

WpHG German Securities Trading Act (Wertpa-
pierhandelsgesetz)

WpPG German Securities Prospectus Act (Wertpa-
pierprospektgesetz)

WpüG German Securities Acquisition and Takeover 
Act (Wertpapiererwerbs- und Übernahmegesetz)
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127Additional information

Mid of February 2014:  

Release of preliminary figures for FY 2013

30 April 2014:  

Release of the Annual Report 2013

30 May 2014:  

Release of the 3M report

August 2014:  

Annual General Meeting in Frankfurt am Main, Germany

29 August 2014:  

Release of the H1 report

Mid of november 2014:  

Release of figures for the first nine months

24-26 november 2014:  

German Equity Forum in Frankfurt am Main, Germany

28 november 2014:  

Release of the 9M report

FInAnCIAL CALEnDAR 2013



128 VanCamel AG – Annual Report 2013

Editor 

VanCamel AG

c/o HRG Hansische Revisions-Gesellschaft mbH,  

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

Ferdinandstraße 25 

20095 Hamburg 

Germany

Management Board

Mr Xiaming Ke, CEO  

Mr Weibin Zhuang, COO 

Mr Eng Ann Soh, CFO

Entry in the Commercial Register

Local court (Amtsgericht) of Cologne under  

the registration number HRB 76539

Photographs & graphics 

VanCamel AG 

nemadesign GbR, Germany

Concept & Design 

nemadesign GbR, Germany

Copyright

All texts, pictures and diagrams in this annual report are protected by copyright law, except for the  

universally valid symbols and signs. Some terms and names are protected by copyright.

IMPRInT



129Additional information

VanCamel AG

c/o HRG Hansische Revisions-Gesellschaft mbH,  

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Ferdinandstraße 25 

20095 Hamburg 

Germany

Mr Eng Ann Soh, CFO 

Phone (Singapore): +65 8118 6222 

Phone (China): +86 155 5911 7996  

Email: ir@vancamel.de 

note on the annual report

In case that there are differences between the German and the English version of this report, the German ver-

sion takes priority.

Forward-looking statements

This annual report of VanCamel AG contains certain future-oriented statements. Future-oriented statements 

include all statements which do not relate to historical facts and events and contain future-oriented expressions 

such as “believe“, “estimate“, “assume“, “expect“, “forecast“, “intend“, “could“ or “should“ or expressions of a 

similar kind. Such future-oriented statements are subject to risks and uncertainties since they relate to future 

events and are based on VanCamel AG‘s current assumptions, which may not in the future take place or be 

fulfilled as expected. VanCamel AG points out that such future-oriented statements provide no guarantee for 

the future and that the actual events including the financial position and profitability of VanCamel AG and de-

velopments in the economic and regulatory fundamentals may vary substantially (particularly on the down 

side) from those explicitly or implicitly assumed in these statements. Even if the actual assets for  

VanCamel AG, including its financial position and profitability and the economic and regulatory fundamentals, 

are in accordance with such future-oriented statements in this annual report, no guarantee can be given that 

this will continue to be the case in the future.
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